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Tomizone has undergone significant restructuring 
over the past three months.

Firstly, the Company made changes at both the 
Board and management levels, after undertaking 
a successful, underwritten Entitlement Offer 
to all shareholders.  The Entitlement Offer was 
well received and showed a commitment from 
existing shareholders to the Company, and more 
importantly, the strategy as outlined in the offer 
documents.

Secondly, the Company has now progressed to 
implement that strategy with both the Bluesky and 
Ironman transactions underway and others being 
investigated on an ongoing basis.  The Company’s 
target is to grow rapidly in both the New Zealand 
and Australian markets and to generate scale and, 
from that scale, profitability and positive cashflows.

This is in line with the announced direction for the 
Company and is part of a plan to ensure its long-
term survival and, more importantly, provide for 
shareholder value to be restored.

The rationale behind the Company’s announced 
strategy is very simple, in that the Company simply 
cannot continue to raise funds in the market unless 
there is a longer term, clearly defined outcome that 
is easily quantified and able to be monetised. 

There are two fundamental business challenges 
that seem to be confronting all businesses in the 
WiFi market, including Tomizone.  The first is how 
to achieve sufficient scale to build a successful 
company, and the second is challenges from large 
telcos and other similar players who are providing 
similar services at a lower cost.  Attempting to 
pursue a standalone WiFi business model has 
resulted in less-than-optimal growth for Tomizone 
over recent years.

Fundamentally, the issues are that Tomizone, like 
many others has struggled to monetise its product 
offering to a level that allows for growth in the 
business.  To do that requires scale.  Scale both in 
terms of the specific WiFi product offering, but also 
scale in relation to the provision of other services, to 
the same customer base, whereby the Company can 
both increase its reach and revenue per customer, 
and provide a wider range of products and services.

To overcome these hurdles, Tomizone’s newly 
appointed Board has recently implemented a 
strategy to grow revenue by reaching beyond the 
limited standalone WiFi business model to allow its 
customers to bundle a more comprehensive suite of 
IT managed services and other similar products and 
services into the same customer base. 

The strategy is two pronged:

1. Identify and acquire synergistic businesses that 
add new products and services, new customer 
and/or additional revenues streams, to the 
current Tomizone customer base; and 

2. Expand the core WiFi business by both organic 
growth and acquisition.

There are significant opportunities beyond the 
traditional stand-alone WiFi business model to drive 
revenue by leveraging the strong relationships 
Tomizone has forged with venues, marketers and 
large enterprise and to cross-sell and bundle a more 
comprehensive suite of technology services.
Technology services with strong synergies to WiFi 
that can be offered as a part of bundled offering 
include:

For venues: Free WiFi services can be combined 
with subscription-based customer capture and 
databases, footfall analytics, real-time captive 
promotions, and social media retargeting.

For advertisers: WiFi advertising services can be 
packaged with geolocation, industry, and customer 
attribute targeting, along with cost-per-click 
impressions, along with potential revenue-sharing 
agreements with venues.

For enterprises: High-volume infrastructure 
services can be integrated with a range of services 
with project-based and subscription revenue, 
including managed WiFi portals, moving solution, 
proximity and floorplan analytics, and heatmapping.

On top of these complementary services, there are 
opportunities to generate additional subscription 
revenue by upselling bundles containing a range 
of additional value added services, including 
products, and link them all together as a managed 
service, whereby the customer pays a fixed monthly 
subscription on a long-term contract.

This requires the business to look at its customer 
base and understand how to provide those 
customers with a wider range of products and 
services and thereby expand the customer revenue 
opportunities to include a wider range of managed 
services than just the WiFi elements.

These additional value bundles can include IT 
services such as VOIP telephony, infrastructure, 
managed portals and applications, and IP-networked 
digital signage, as well as security services including 
IP-networked CCTV, alarm systems and monitoring, 
access control and smartphone security monitoring.  
These services may include both hardware and 
services as a fully managed customer solution.
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Along with growing Tomizone’s revenue base and 
more effectively monetising its free WiFi services, 
significant cost synergies can be achieved by 
bundling together multiple services by streamlining 
staffing, product fulfilment, installation, support, and 
associated IT infrastructure costs.

In effect, Tomizone will build on its current WiFi 
customer base, by acquiring business that are value 
accretive and give access to new customers and/or 
grow the reach into existing customers.  In effect, 
Tomizone will become the one-stop shop for all their 
IT, telecommunications and information security 
needs.  In fact, there is no reason why Tomizone 
cannot expand its reach into all aspects of a business 
infrastructure and provide it all on the basis of a 
monthly subscription charge.

Importantly, this strategy is based on developing 
recurring revenues that ensure the long-term 
stability of the business.  By providing a wider 
range of managed services to a customer, including 
all hardware and software, support and service 
management, the Company will grow its ongoing 
revenues streams, provide a sticky customer base 
and ensure stable long term ongoing cashflows and 
revenues.

With a new Board and strategy in place, Tomizone 
has been reset for growth.  The Company is now 
implementing a roadmap to build scale and expand 
its product catalogue, both through organic growth 
and complementary value-accretive acquisitions.

It has started this with the acquisition of Bluesky 
to allow the Company to provide a wider range of 
services to the Tomizone customers, and equally 
importantly, to allow Bluesky to offer its customers 
access to the Tomizone WiFi products.  Bluesky has 
a customer base in the medical environment, where 
there are long wait times, making this ideal for the 
provision of Tomizone’s services.  Further, Bluesky’s 
revenues are stable in that they provide all services 
on a subscription or recurring basis.  It is anticipated 
this will grow by introducing the Bluesky product set 
to the Tomizone customer base.

Secondly, the Company has announced a second 
transaction with Ironman.  Ironman is a managed 
services company, specialising in a wide range of 
products and services to a significant customer 
base.  This customer base, currently in excess of 
4,000 businesses, provides a core existing base to 
drive both the Tomizone and Bluesky services into.  
Further, Ironman, as part of its business, has the 
opportunity, under the ownership of Tomizone, to 
migrate the current customer base to a subscription 
revenues model.  It is estimated that the total base 
could generate up to $13M of revenues over the 
next 4 years, only on the basis of that migration and 
ignoring new business. 

This strategy will take time to implement.  Tomizone 
is working very diligently to identify new products 
that customers want, need, and will pay for.  It is also 
assessing potential acquisition targets that provide 
scale to the Company’s customer base, and that 
have compelling product offerings.

Tomizone’s Board is fully committed to getting 
the Company back on track by unlocking the 
tremendous and lucrative revenue growth 
opportunities that come from being a one-stop-shop 
provider offering customers a comprehensive range 
of IT related services.

The model being implemented is not a new model, it 
is a well proven and reliable model that, whilst taking 
time to implement, results in a solid ongoing and 
recurring revenues stream and a strong customer 
retention.

“[We are] fully committed to 
getting the Company back on track 
by unlocking [the] tremendous 
and lucrative revenue growth 
opportunities...” 

IAN BAILEY
CHAIRMAN

X
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Directors Report 
Your Directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2017 for Tomizone Limited (the 

Company). 

Directors 

The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the 

date of this report are set out below.  Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise 

stated. 

Ian Bailey, Non Executive Director and Chairman (Appointed: 3 July 2017) 

Matt Adams, Non Executive Director (Appointed: 3 July 2017) 

Maxim Carling, Non Executive Director (Appointed: 1 September 2017) 

Phillip Joe, Executive Director and Chief Commercial Officer (Appointed: 22 May 2015) 

Avikashan (Avi) Naidu, Non Executive Director (Appointed: 3 July 2014, Resigned 1 September 2017) 

Eric King Wai Chan, Non Executive Director (Appointed: 3 July 2014, Resigned 1 September 2017) 

Tarun Kanji, Non Executive Director and Chairman (Appointed: 22 May 2015, Resigned 3 July 2017) 

Januario J Atencio, Non Executive Director (Appointed: 1 March 2017, Resigned 27 June 2017) 

Stephen Simms, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (Ceased CEO: 27 October 2015, 

Resigned Director: 12 July 2016) 

Ian Bailey 

(Non Executive Director and Chairman) 

Mr Bailey has a wealth of experience developing small companies into much larger companies that 

create positive returns for shareholders.   

Ian has had extensive experience in both the NZ and Australian markets, particularly in payments 

(EFTPOS), merchant Point of Sale (POS) technology, both hardware and software, and 

telecommunications sectors.  In addition, Ian has been involved in the listing and management of 

two companies listed on the New Zealand Securities Exchange. 

Ian has a solid background in technology, management, sales and marketing.  He holds 

qualifications which include a Diploma in Electronic Computer Servicing, Electronics certificate from 

Auckland Technical Institute, certificate in Business Management from the Australian Institute of 

Management, and has completed units in Marketing from the University of Auckland.  In addition, 

Ian has completed a wide range of courses from the New Zealand Institute of Directors, including a 

Certificate in Company Direction, Chairing the Board, Finance Essentials and Governance Essentials. 

Ian is also a Chartered member of the New Zealand Institute of Directors and an Affiliate of the 

Australian Institute of Directors.  He has held directorships in private and public companies in New 

Zealand and Australia. 

Mr Bailey does not hold any other ASX listed directorships. 
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Matt Adams 

(Non Executive Director) 

Mr Adams is an experienced finance professional with over 20 years’ experience in executive 

management positions.  Mr Adams was a partner in the mid-sized chartered accounting firm Taylor 

Woodings for over 10 years until its acquisition by FTI Consulting (a NYSE listed consulting firm) 

upon which Mr Adams was appointed Senior Managing Director of FTI Consulting.  In 2014 Mr 

Adams left FTI Consulting and founded the boutique corporate advisory firm Dynamic Corporate 

Investments of which he is Managing Director. 

Mr Adams brings extensive experience in growth strategies, operational efficiency consulting, 

corporate governance and capital structuring.  Mr Adams is qualified as a Chartered Account and 

has worked in executive roles in a number of public and private companies.  Mr Adams has 

overseen the restructuring and recapitalization of several listed companies including asset sale and 

business carve outs, capital and debt re-organisation and operational optimisation.  In addition, Mr 

Adams has strong networks within the private equity, hedge fund and banking sectors. 

Mr Adams is also company secretary for Ceramic Fuel Cells Ltd (ASX). 

Maxim Carling 

(Non Executive Director) 

Mr Carling is a principal of Carling Capital Partners (CCP) and has significant experience in merchant 

banking and financial advisory services including capital and debt raising for ASX listed entities, as 

well as extensive experience around mergers and acquisitions.  Mr Carling’s corporate career 

includes being a Director/Senior Partner in Standard Chartered Bank, Ramsay Health Care and 

Prime Media, whilst serving as Financial Director of Paul Ramsay Group, Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu, 

Asian Capital Partners Australia, ANZ Investment Bank and Terrain Capital. 

More recently Mr Carling founded CCP in 2003, which has acted as a principal and advisor to many 

junior ASX-listed companies and private companies.  Mr Carling also served on the Boards of two 

ASX-listed companies and assisted in their capital raisings. 

His qualifications include a Bachelor of Commerce from UNSW, Bachelor of Arts from University of 

Wollongong and a past associate of the Australian Society of Certified Practicing accountants (CPA). 

Mr Carling does not hold any other ASX listed directorships. 

Phillip Joe 

(Executive Director and Chief Commercial Officer) 

Phillip has over 29 years of experience in consulting, venture investments and investment 

management and has operational experience in Australasia, Asia and the US.  He has a passion for 

entrepreneurship and in the funding, establishment and management of start-ups with disruptive 

products and services or niche markets.  One company he co-founded was recently sold for $500 

million.  He is a co-founder of Tomizone. 

Phillip has served on private and public company boards and brings a wealth of entrepreneurial, 

strategic planning, financial management, operational and governance skills.  He holds a Master of 

Business Studies (Hons), Graduate Diploma in Business and Administration and is a Chartered 

Accountant in Australia and New Zealand. 

Mr Joe does not hold any other ASX listed directorships. 

He has a Special Responsibility as Chief Commercial Officer. 
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Former Directors 
The names of Directors who held office from 1 July 2016 and resigned prior to the date of this report 

are: 

Avikashan Naidu 

(resigned 1 September 2017) 

No Directorships of other listed companies in the 3 years prior to the end of the Financial Year. 

Eric King Wai Chan 

(resigned 1 September 2017) 

No Directorships of other listed companies in the 3 years prior to the end of the Financial Year. 

Tarun Kanji 

(resigned 3 July 2017) 

Tarun Kanji is also a Director of N1 Holdings Limited (ASX: N1H). 

Januario J Atencio  

(appointed 1 March 2017, resigned 27 June 2017) 

No Directorships of other listed companies in the 3 years prior to the end of the 2017 financial year. 

Stephen Simms 

(resigned 12 July 2016) 

No Directorships of other listed companies in the 3 years prior to the end of the 2017 financial year. 

Director interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Tomizone 

Limited were: 

 

Mr Tarun Kanji, Mr Avikashan Naidu and Mr Eric Chan resigned subsequent to 30 June 2017 and prior to the date of 

this report, 29 September 2017. 

The performance revenue targets related to the 10,265,852 performance shares held by Phillip Joe were not achieved 

by the Company and therefore the performance shares will not be converted to ordinary shares.  They will be formally 

cancelled in the 2018 financial year. 

  

Numbe r of ordina ry sha re s
Numbe r of pe rforma nc e  

sha re s

Numbe r of options ove r 

ordina ry sha re s

Ian Bailey 45,723,015 - -

Matt Adams - - -

Maxim Carling - - -

Phillip Joe 3,236,555 10,265,852 1,098,914

4 8 ,9 5 9 ,5 7 0 10 ,2 6 5 ,8 5 2 1,0 9 8 ,9 14
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Company Secretary 

Eryn Kestel 

(Company secretary) 

Ms Kestel was appointed as Company Secretary on 21 August 2017. 

Ms Kestel has a Bachelor of Business degree and is a Certified Practicing Accountant with a broad 

range of experience with listed companies, corporate governance and corporate transactions. 

Ms Kestel is Company Secretary for several ASX listed companies.  

Anand Sundaraj  

(Company secretary) 

Mr Sundaraj finished in the position of Company Secretary on 21 August 2017. 

David McAllansmith 

(Chief Financial Officer & Co-Company secretary) 

Mr McAllansmith finished in the position of Chief Financial Officer & Joint Company Secretary on 3 

October 2016. 

Principal activities 

Tomizone is a managed services provider of technology based products and services including Wi-fi 

based connectivity, analytics and location based services and software to enterprises, brands and 

public venues.  Its product suites span hardware and software including SaaS and Internet of Things 

connectivity and related management services. 

The Company’s strategy is to provide its customers with a wide range of products and services that 

add value to Tomizone’s customer.  Its strategy is to grow by way of acquisitions of synergistic and 

aligned products and services, combined with organic growth of its core customer base and Wi-fi 

business. 

Review of Operations 

Revenue from operations for the year ending 30 June 2017 was $2,181,126, a decrease of 19.8% 

from the previous year.  This is reflective of the transition of customers away from paid WiFi usage 

revenue model to a subscription based recurring revenue model. 

The consolidated entity’s loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company, after providing for 

income tax, amounted to $4,233,269 (2016 loss: $4,630,235).  The net loss for the 2017 financial year 

was significantly impacted by the impairment of the Lightswitch software being $1,401,073.  The 

adjusted loss for 2017 when removing the one-off impairment was $2,832,196. 

Total Assets are $1,258,736 (2016: $5,225,060) and Net Assets are ($4,740,603) (2016: ($2,012,096)). 
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Significant changes in the state of affairs 

The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company occurred during the financial 

year: 

Issue of Share Capital 

On 10 January 2017, the Company issued 10,666,665 shares in relation to the completion of a capital 

raise for $960,000.  Each share has the same terms and conditions as the existing ordinary shares. 

Significant events after the balance date 

Changes to the Board of Directors 

On 4 July 2017, the Company announced that it had accepted the resignation of Mr Tarun Kanji as 

non-executive Director and Chairman.  Concurrently the Company announced the appointment of 

Mr Ian Bailey and Mr Matt Adams, both as non-executive Directors.  Mr Bailey also took the role of 

Chairman of the Company with immediate effect. 

On 1 September 2017, the Company announced that it had accepted the resignation of Mr Eric Chan 

and Mr Avi Naidu, both non-executive Directors.  Concurrently the Company announced the 

appointment of Mr Maxim Carling as non-executive Director. 

Extension of Convertible Notes 

On 4 July 2017, the Company announced that it had entered into agreements with Subscription 

Bond holders to: 

- extend the term of 75% (or $3,150,000) of outstanding Subscription Bonds to 14 August 

2019; and 

- redeem 20% (or $840,000) of all outstanding Subscription Bonds on the condition that half of 

the redemption amount ($420,000) forms part of the underwriting of the Entitlement Offer 

(details below). 

Additionally, the Company will seek shareholder approval to: 

- issue 28,000,000 new options over TOM shares to Subscription Bondholders with an exercise 

price of $0.10 per option; and 

- adjust the conversion price of the remaining Subscription Bonds from $0.15 to $0.05 per 

TOM share. 

The repayment of $420,000 and conversion of $420,000 was completed in August 2017 reducing the 

remaining total Subscription Bonds outstanding amount to $3,360,000.  $1,050,000 is repayable 

June 2018, $2,310,000 is repayable August 2019. 

Capital Raise – Placement 

On 4 July 2017, the Company issued 13,333,332 new fully paid shares in the Company to 

sophisticated and professional investors at an issue price of $0.015 per new share to raise $0.20 

million, before costs and expenses.  Funds raised from the Placement will be used by the Company 

to fund its working capital requirements and the redemption of the Subscription Bonds. 

Additionally, further to the announcement made on 10 January 2017, the Company completed the 

second tranche of the Previous Placement, and issued 444,444 new fully paid shares in the 

Company to sophisticated and professional investors at an issue price of $0.09 to raise $40,000, 

before costs and expenses. 
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Capital Raise – Entitlement Offer 

On 4 July 2017, the Company announced it was undertaking a 1-for-1 non-renounceable pro-rata 

Entitlement Offer to raise up to a further $1.84 million at an issue price of $0.015 per share.  The 

Entitlement Offer was partially underwritten by a group of underwriters for up to $1.72 million. 

The proceeds of the Entitlement Offer will be used as follows: 

- $840,000 will be used to redeem and pay out part of the Subscription Bonds, of which 

$420,000 will be reinvested into the Company by the Subscription Bondholders via the 

underwriting of the Entitlement Offer; and 

- the remaining balance will be used to fund the ongoing working capital and expansion of the 

business. 

The Entitlement Offer and Underwriting Agreement was completed in August 2017.  On 6 

September 2017, the Company issued 1,333,333 ordinary shares as partial settlement of the 

underwriting fee as outlined in the Entitlement Offer. 

Restructuring 

On 13 July 2017, the Company announced the departure of the Chief Executive Officer Geoff 

Wanless due to the changing nature and restructuring of the business over the past year. 

Social Light Acquisition 

On 14 August 2017, the Company announced that upon final review of the Social Light business that 

both parties had mutually and amicably agreed not to proceed with the transaction. 

The Companies have agreed to terminate the current sale and purchase agreement and look to 

replace it with a technology purchase and IP transfer agreement, which will see Tomizone own the 

software, source code and intellectual property of the software required by Tomizone for its 

customers.  Social Light will continue as Tomizone's development partner for the maintenance and 

ongoing development of its software. 

Benefits of the strategy for Tomizone's shareholders are: 

- less dilutive given Tomizone no longer has to issue the Social Light vendors 24,500,300 

ordinary shares; 

- retained access to Social Light's technology products and capabilities through agreed 

procurement terms; 

- a resulting estimated quarterly overhead saving of $100,000; 

- less time commitment managing a business with operations in the Philippines. 

As at the date of this report the Company is continuing to finalise the conditions of termination and 

agreed on-going supplier relationship. 

Agreement to Acquire Bluesky Online Services 

On 8 September 2017, the Company announced they had signed an agreement to acquire all the 

business and assets of New Zealand based Managed Services company Bluesky Online Services 

Limited for a combination of cash and shares, made up of $142,500 in cash and 6.67 million 

Tomizone (ASX: TOM) shares. 
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Agreement to Acquire Ironman Group Ltd 

On 27 September 2017, the Company announced they had signed an agreement to acquire the 

issued capital of Ironman Group Limited, a New Zealand based Technology Managed Services, 

Security and Leasing company with in excess of 4,000 customers.  The total purchase price for all of 

the shares in Ironman comprises the following: 

- An initial payment of 9.2 million Tomizone shares issued at a share price of AUD $0.015 (9.2 

million shares), and 

- An earn-out of up to NZD $600,000, after meeting an agreed profit target over the next five 

years.  This target equates to the full repayment of all debt the Tomizone group will assume 

upon completion of the transaction, estimated to be approximately NZD $3.8 million.  At the 

Company’s option, the earn-out may be paid via the issue of Tomizone shares, capped at 

36,800,000 shares in total, or in cash. 

Dividends 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year by the Company. 

The Directors have recommended that no dividend be paid by the Company in respect of the year 

ended 30 June 2017. 

Likely developments and expected results 

Likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of these operations in 

future financial years have not been included in this report given the ongoing restructure of the 

business.  Given this activity the Company is unable to provide forward financial information. 

Environmental regulation and performance 

The Group is not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation under laws of the 

Commonwealth of Australia or of a State or Territory. 

Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers 

During the year, Tomizone paid a premium to insure officers of the Group.  The officers of the 

Group covered by the insurance policy include all Directors & Officers. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings 

that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Group, and any other 

payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings, other 

than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the 

improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or 

someone else to cause detriment to the Group. 

Details of the amount of the premium paid in respect of insurance policies are not disclosed as such 

disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract. 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its Directors against claims by 

third parties from liabilities or actions arising as a Director of the Group (for an unspecified amount) 

unless that claim or proceeding arises out of misconduct involving a lack of good faith. 

Indemnification of auditors 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Crowe Horwath, 

as part of the terms of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from 

the audit (for an unspecified amount).  No payment has been made to indemnify Crowe Horwath 

during or since the financial year. 
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Directors’ meetings 

The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during 

the year and the number of meetings attended by each Director were as follows: 

 

Committee membership 

Members acting on the Committees of the Board during the year were: 

Audit and Risk 

Tarun Kanji (c), Avikashan Naidu, Eric Chan 

Remuneration and Nomination 

Eric Chan (c), Tarun Kanji and Avikashan Naidu 

Note: (c) Designates the chairman of the committee 

Rounding 

The amounts contained in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1 (where 

rounding is applicable) where noted ($) under the option available to the Company under ASIC CO 

98/0100.  The Company is an entity to which the class order applies. 

Auditor independence and non-audit services 

The Directors have received a declaration from the auditor of Tomizone Limited.  This has been 

included on page 63.  During the year the Company’s auditors performed certain other services in 

addition to their audit responsibilities. 

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is 

satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the year is compatible with, and did 

not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

  

Dire c tors Me e tings* Audit a nd Risk Committe e
Re mune ra tion a nd 

Nomina tion Committe e

Numbe r of me e tings he ld: 17 4 -

Numbe r of me e tings a tte nde d:

Tarun Kanji 17 4 -

Avikashan Naidu 17 4 -

Eric King Wai Chan 17 4 -

Phillip Joe 16 - -

Januario J Atencio 3 - -
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Remuneration report (audited) 
The Directors of the Group present the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 for 

Non Executive Directors, Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel, collectively 

referred to as “KMP”.  This remuneration report outlines the remuneration arrangements of the 

Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, as amended (the Act) and 

its regulations.  This information has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act. 

Key Management Personnel 
The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for KMP who are defined as those 

persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major 

activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) 

of the parent. 

The table below outlines the KMP of the Group during the financial year ended 30 June 2017.  

Unless otherwise indicated, the individuals were KMP for the entire financial year. 

For the purposes of this report, the term “KMP” includes all currently serving Non Executive and 

Executive Directors and Senior Executives of the Group.  “Executive” refers to the Executive Director 

Phillip Joe and also executives Geoffrey Wanless, Saurabh Madan, David McAllansmith, Sally Wu and 

Andrew Somervell. 

Independent and Non Executive Directors 

 

* Tarun Kanji resigned as Non Executive Director and Chairman on 3 July 2017. 

** Avikashan Naidu and Eric King Wai Chan resigned as Non Executive Directors on 1 September 2017. 

*** Stephen Simms was Chief Executive Officer until 27 October 2015. 

Executive Directors 

 

Other Key Management Personnel 

 

* Geoff Wanless was Chief Executive Officer until 17 July 2017. 

 

Na me Da te  of a ppointme nt to Tomizone  Limite d

Ta run Ka nji * Independent Chair -  appointed 22 May 2015

Avika sha n Na idu ** Non- Executive Director -  appointed 3 July 2014

Eric  King Wa i Cha n ** Non- Executive Director -  appointed 3 July 2014

Janua rio J Ate nc io Non- Executive Director-  appointed 1 March 2017, ceased 27 June 2017

Ste phe n S imms *** Non- Executive Director -  ceased 12 July 2016 

Na me Da te  of appointme nt to Tomizone  Limite d

Phillip Joe Chief Commerc ial Officer & Executive Director -  appointed 22 May 2015

Na me Da te  of a ppointme nt to Tomizone  Limite d

Ge offre y Wa nless * Chief Executive Officer -  appointed 27 October 2015

Sa urabh Ma dan Head of Sales APAC -  appointed 31 October 2016

Da vid Mc Alla nsmith
Chief Financial Officer & Co- Company Secretary 

-  ceased as KMP 3 October 2016

Sa lly Wu Vice President Sales -  ceased as KMP 5 May 2016

Andrew Somerve ll Chief Product Officer -  ceased as KMP 25 January 2016



Tomizone Limited Annual Report 2017 
� 

 

Remuneration governance, policy and principles 
The principles of the Group’s executive strategy and supporting incentive programs and frameworks 

are: 

– to align rewards to business outcomes that deliver value to shareholders 

– to drive a high performance culture by setting challenging objectives and rewarding high performing 

individuals; and 

– to ensure remuneration is competitive in the relevant employment market place to support the attraction, 

motivation and retention of executive talent in the interests of delivering value to shareholders. 

Executive director and other key management personnel remuneration policy 

Tomizone has structured a remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary 

to the reward strategy of the Group. 

The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee which operates in 

accordance with its charter as approved by the Board and is responsible for determining and 

reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors and the Executive Team. 

The remuneration structure that has been adopted by the Group consists of the following 

components: 

– fixed remuneration being annual salary; and 

– short term incentives, being employee share awards and bonuses. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee assess the appropriateness of the nature and 

amount of remuneration on a periodic basis by reference to recent employment market conditions 

with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high 

quality Board and Executive Team. 

Executive and Executive Director remuneration 

Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and 

includes any fringe benefits tax charges related to employee benefits, as well as employer 

contributions to superannuation funds). 

The Executive KMP accepted a reduction in salary and cash cost to the Company in the financial year 

to 30 June 2017, as detailed below under Executive Contracts.  Further, reductions in fixed 

remuneration are provided going forward until such time as the Company reaches sustainable 

positive operating cash flow. 

Executive and Executive Director remuneration levels are reviewed annually by the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee through a process that considers the overall performance of the Group.  

Executive Directors are not paid any director fees in addition to their fixed remuneration as 

Executives. 

Non Executive Director remuneration 

Fees and payments to Non Executive Directors reflect the demands which are made of the Directors 

in fulfilling their responsibilities.  Non Executive Directors fees are reviewed annually by the Board.  

The constitution of the Company provides that the Non Executive Directors of the Company are 

entitled to such remuneration, as determined by the Board, which must not exceed in aggregate the 

maximum amount determined by the Company in a general meeting. 

The most recent determination of total maximum aggregate Non Executive Director remuneration 

was at a general meeting held on 28 April 2015 where the shareholders approved a maximum 

aggregate remuneration of $750,000.  
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Due to the recent changes at Board and Executive levels within the Company, the Tomizone 

Directors have engaged an external remuneration consultant to provide recommendations for 

Director and Executive remuneration for the financial year 2018 and future years.  At the 

appropriate time, the Board of Tomizone will seek shareholder approval for adoption of the 

recommendations. 

No additional fees are paid for serving on the Audit and Risk or Remuneration and Nomination 

Committees.  Non Executive Directors only serve on each of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration 

and Nomination committees. 
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KMP remuneration outcomes for 2017 (including link to performance) 

Executive remuneration for the years ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 

 

The value of share options granted to key management personnel as part of their remuneration is calculated as at grant date using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  The amounts disclosed as part of 

remuneration for the year have been determined by allocating the grant date value on a straight-line basis over the period from the grant date to vesting date. 

* Tarun Kanji resigned 3 July 2017 as Non Executive Director and Chairman 

** Januario J Atencio appointed 1 March 2017, resigned 27 June 2017 as Non Executive Director 

*** Avikashan Naidu and Eric Chan resigned 1 September 2017 as Non Executive Directors 

^ Stephen Simms resigned 21 August 2015 as CEO & Executive Director.  He ceased as Non Executive Director 12 July 2016. 

  

Tota l

D irect ors 

f ees

Salary & 

f ees

C ash 

bonus

N on 

mo net ary 

b enef it s

Sup er-

annuat ion

R et irement  

benef it s

C ash 

incent ives

Long 

service 

leave

Share 

op t ions
Shares

Name Ye ar $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Non- Exec utive  Inde pendent Direc tor

Tarun Kanji * 20 17 24,000 46,000 - - - - - - 38,234 - 108,234 38,234 35%

20 16 59,333 - - - - - - - 91,802 - 151,135 91,802 61%

Non- Exec utive  Dire c tors

Avikashan Na idu*** 20 17 24,000 - - - - - - - 38,234 - 62,234 38,234 61%

20 16 39,333 - - - - - - - 87,605 - 126,938 87,605 69%

Eric  Chan*** 20 17 24,000 - - - - - - - 38,234 - 62,234 38,234 61%

20 16 39,333 - - - - - - - 87,605 - 126,938 87,605 69%

Ja nua rio J Atenc io ** 20 17 8,000 - - - - - - - - - 8,000 - 0%

20 16 - - - - - - - - - - - - 0%

Stephen S imms ^ 20 17 - - - - - - - - - - - - 0%

20 16 - 151,081 - - - - - - - - 151,081 - 0%

Tota l 20 17 80 ,0 00  46 ,0 00  -  -  -  -  -  -  114 ,702  -  2 40 ,70 2  114 ,7 02  48%

Tota l 20 16 137 ,9 99  151,08 1 -  -  -  -  -  -  267 ,0 12  -  5 56 ,09 2  2 67 ,012  48%

Pe rformance  

re la ted
Short -  te rm bene fits P ost Employme nt

Othe r long- te rm 

bene fits

Share - based 

payments
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The value of share options granted to key management personnel as part of their remuneration is calculated as at grant date using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  The amounts disclosed as part of 

remuneration for the year have been determined by allocating the grant date value on a straight-line basis over the period from the grant date to vesting date. 

^ Saurabh Madan appointed as KMP 31 October 2016. 

^^ Geoff Wanless ceased as Chief Executive Officer and KMP 17 July 2017. 

* David McAllansmith ceased as Chief Financial Officer and KMP 3 October 2016. 

** Sally Wu ceased as KMP 5 May 2016. 

*** Andrew Somervell ceased as KMP 25 January 2016. 

. 

Tota l

D irect ors 

f ees

Salary & 

f ees

C ash 

bonus

N on 

mo net ary 

b enef it s

Sup er-

annuat ion

R et irement  

benef it s

C ash 

incent ives

Long 

service 

leave

Share 

op t ions
Shares

Name Ye ar $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Executive  Direc tors

Phillip Joe 20 17 - 79,563 - - - - - - - - 79,563 - 0%

20 16 - 172,177 - - - - - - - - 172,177 - 0%

Tota l 20 17 -  79 ,5 63  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  79 ,56 3  -  0%

Tota l 20 16 -  172 ,177  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  17 2 ,17 7  -  0%

Other Key Mana geme nt P ersone l

Geoffrey Wanless ^̂ 20 17 - 256,250 - - 14,198 - - - 127,259 - 397,707 16,270 4%

20 16 - 80,766 - - 6,080 - - - - - 86,846 - 0%

Saura bh Ma dan ^ 20 17 - 94,233 - - 8,373 - - - 3,728 - 106,334 - 0%

20 16 - - - - - - - - - - - - 0%

David McAllansmith * 20 17 - 50,445 - - 1,065 - - - - - 51,510 - 0%

20 16 - 154,530 - - 4,453 - - - - - 158,983 - 0%

Sa lly Wu ** 20 17 - 37,518 - - 3,974 - - - - - 41,492 - 0%

20 16 - 210,714 3,750 - 22,732 - - - - - 237,196 4,106 2%

Andre w Some rve ll * ** 20 17 - - - - - - - - - - - - 0%

20 16 - 85,394 - - - - - - - - 85,394 - 0%

Tota l 20 17 -  438 ,4 46  -  -  27 ,6 10  -  -  -  13 0 ,987  -  5 97 ,04 3  16 ,2 70  3%

Tota l 20 16 -  5 31,4 04  3 ,75 0  -  3 3 ,265  -  -  -  -  -  56 8 ,419  4 ,106  1%

Short -  te rm bene fits P ost Employme nt
Othe r long- te rm 

bene fits

Share - based 

payments

Pe rformance  

re la ted
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Executive contracts 
Key terms of services agreements 

Chief Executive Officer 

– During the year the CEO received 65% of contracted $250,000 fixed remuneration per annum, 

including superannuation. 

– The CEO’s target STI opportunity is $125,000.  Performance against target is conditional upon 

meeting specific revenue and profit targets. 

– Fixed and incentive remuneration is determined annually by the Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee. 

– Termination notice period is 3 months or without notice in the event of serious misconduct or 

breach of services agreement. 

– Restraint of trade period being up to 6 months. 

Chief Commercial Officer 

– During the year the CCO received 36% of contracted $225,000 fixed remuneration per annum, 

including superannuation. 

– The CCO’s target and maximum STI opportunity is $70,000.  Performance against target is 

determined at the sole and absolute discretion of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

– Fixed and incentive remuneration is determined annually by the Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee. 

– Termination notice period is 4 months or without notice in the event of serious misconduct or 

breach of services agreement. 

– Restraint of trade period being up to 6 months. 

Head of Sales - Asia & Pacific 

– The Head of Sales – APAC receives fixed remuneration of $150,000 plus Australian Federal 

superannuation contributions. 

– The Head of Sales – APAC’s target STI opportunity is 33% of fixed remuneration and maximum 

opportunity of 230% of fixed remuneration.  Performance against target is determined at the sole 

and absolute discretion of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

– Fixed and incentive remuneration is determined annually by the Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee. 

– Termination notice period is 1 month or without notice in the event of serious misconduct or 

breach of services agreement. 

– Restraint of trade period being up to 6 months. 

Non Executive Director remuneration arrangements 

Determination of fees and maximum aggregate NED fee pool 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has approved a director fee pool being no more 

than $750,000.  The Chair received a flat fee of $24,000 and each Non Executive Director a fee of 

$24,000 in the year to 30 June 2017.   

Due to the recent changes at Board and Executive levels within the Company, the Tomizone 

Directors have engaged an external remuneration consultant to provide recommendations for 

Director and Executive remuneration for the financial year 2018 and future years.  At the 

appropriate time, the Board of Tomizone will seek shareholder approval for adoption of the 

recommendations. 

Executive Directors do not receive any director fees.  No additional fees are paid for serving on the 

Audit and Risk or Remuneration and Nomination Committees.  Non Executive Directors only serve 

on each of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration and Nomination committees. 
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Additional disclosures relating to option and share awards 

Options awarded, exercised and lapsed during the year 

The tables below disclose the number of share options granted, exercised or lapsed during the year 

ended 30 June 2017. 

Share options do not carry any voting or dividend rights, and can only be exercised once the vesting 

conditions have been met, until their expiry date. 

Share options granted and exercised 

The following table summarises the value of options granted and exercised during the financial 

year, in relation to the options granted to key management personnel as part of their remuneration: 

 

^ The value of options granted during the financial year is calculated as at the grant date using the Black-Sholes model.  This grate date 

value is allocated to remuneration of key management personnel on a straight-line basis over the period from the grant date to vesting 

date. 

# Determined at the time of exercise. 

  

Va lue  of options grante d 

during the  ye ar ^

Va lue  of options exe rc ised 

during the  yea r #

3 0  June  20 17 $ $

Non- Exec utive  Inde pende nt Dire c tor

Tarun Kanji - -

Non- Exec utive  Dire c tors

Avikashan Naidu - -

Eric King Wai Chan - -

Exec utive  Direc tors

Phillip Joe - -

Othe r Key Manageme nt Pe rsonne l

Geoffrey Wanless 260,924 -

Saurabh Madan 11,083 -

FY17  Tota l 27 2 ,00 7  -  
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Share options lapsed 

The following table summarises the number of options lapsed during the financial year, in relation 

to the options granted to key management personnel as part of their remuneration: 

 

There were no alterations to the terms and conditions of options awarded as remuneration since 

their award date. 

  

3 0  June  20 17

Financ ia l yea r in which the  

options were  grante d

No.  of options la pse d during 

the  c urrent ye ar

Non- Exe cutive  Independe nt Direc tor

Tarun Kanji 30/06/2015 597,012

Non- Exe cutive  Dire c tors

Avikashan Naidu 30/06/2015 597,012

Eric King Wai Chan 30/06/2015 597,012

Exec utive  Dire c tors

Phillip Joe - -

Othe r Key Manage me nt Pe rsonne l

Geoffrey Wanless 30/06/2017 6,000,000

Saurabh Madan - -

FY17  Tota l 7 ,7 91,0 36  
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Shareholdings of KMP 

Details of ordinary shares in the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by key 
management personnel (KMP), including their related parties, is as follows: 

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 

 

Ian Bailey      Matt Adams 

Chairman      Non Executive Director 

29 September 2017 

  

Ba la nc e  
1 July 2 0 16

Re c e ive d a s 
pa rt of 

re mune ra tion

Purc ha se  of 
sha re s

Sa le  of 
sha re s

Ba la nc e  he ld 
whe n le a ving

Ba la nc e  
3 0  June  2 0 17

Non- Exe c utive  Inde pe nde nt Dire c tor

Tarun Kanji 2,269,581 - 231,469 (61,155) - 2,439,895

Non- Exe c utive  Dire c tors

Avikashan Naidu 1,170,970 - 909,290 - - 2,080,260

Eric King Wai Chan 1,225,322 - 3,796,875 (15,384) - 5,006,813

Stephen Simms 14,044,179 - - (14,026,849) 17,330 -

Januario J Atencio - - 7,222,222 - 7,222,222 -

Exe c utive  Dire c tors

Phillip Joe 15,514,279 - - (12,277,724) - 3,236,555

Othe r Ke y Ma na ge me nt P e rsonne l

Geoffrey Wanless 150,000 - 4,583,752 - - 4,733,752

Saurabh Madan - - 1,426,369 - - 1,426,369

Tota l 3 4 ,3 7 4 ,3 3 1 -  18 ,16 9 ,9 7 7  (2 6 ,3 8 1,112 ) 7 ,2 3 9 ,5 5 2  18 ,9 2 3 ,6 4 4  

22
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Financial Statements 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

2 0 17 2 0 16

Note s $ $

Revenue 2,181,126 2,720,240

Direct Costs (770,699) (1,165,421)

Gross Profit 1,4 10 ,4 2 7 1,5 5 4 ,8 19

Other operating income (expense) 6.1 (29,137) 11,414

Employee benefits expense (1,370,307) (2,477,857)

Other expenses (1,333,488) (1,876,801)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (474,192) (574,570)

Impairment (1,447,073) (316,000)

Share Based Payment (355,363) (600,758)

Loss be fore  inc ome  ta x a nd fina nc e  c osts (3 ,5 9 9 ,13 3 ) (4 ,2 7 9 ,7 5 3 )

Finance costs 6.3 (687,785) (518,402)

Finance income 5,464 15,967

Loss be fore  ta x from c ontinuing ope ra tions (4 ,2 8 1,4 5 4 ) (4 ,7 8 2 ,18 8 )

Income tax benefit/(expense) 7 51,027 188,696

Loss for the  ye a r from c ontinuing ope ra tions (4 ,2 3 0 ,4 2 7 ) (4 ,5 9 3 ,4 9 2 )

LOSS  FOR THE Y EAR (4 ,2 3 0 ,4 2 7 ) (4 ,5 9 3 ,4 9 2 )

Othe r c ompre he nsive  inc ome

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (2,842) (36,743)

Income tax effect - -

Othe r c ompre he nsive  inc ome (loss) for the  ye a r,  ne t of ta x (2 ,8 4 2 ) (3 6 ,7 4 3 )

TOTAL COMP REHENS IVE LOSS  FOR THE Y EAR,  NET OF TAX (4 ,2 3 3 ,2 6 9 ) (4 ,6 3 0 ,2 3 5 )

Attributa ble  to:

Equity holde rs of the  P a re nt (4 ,2 3 3 ,2 6 9 ) (4 ,6 3 0 ,2 3 5 )

Ea rnings  pe r sha re

Basic, profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent 8 ($0.0411) ($0.0487)

Diluted, profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent 8 ($0.0411) ($0.0487)
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

As at 30 June 2017 

 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

2 0 17 2 0 16

Note s $ $

AS SETS

Curre nt a sse ts

Cash and short- term deposits 9 228,791 1,676,020

Trade and other receivables 10 453,261 1,049,735

Inventories 1,230 -

Current tax receivables 1,699 5,876

Tota l Curre nt a sse ts 6 8 4 ,9 8 1 2 ,7 3 1,6 3 1

Non- c urre nt a sse ts

Intangible assets 11 364,896 2,104,193

Property, plant and equipment 12 164,120 373,243

Deferred tax assets 7 7,210 4,360

Other receivables 37,529 11,633

Tota l Non- c urre nt a sse ts 5 7 3 ,7 5 5 2 ,4 9 3 ,4 2 9

TOTAL ASS ETS 1,2 5 8 ,7 3 6 5 ,2 2 5 ,0 6 0

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Curre nt lia bilitie s

Trade and other payables 13 1,626,886 2,387,662

Interest- bearing loans and borrowings 14 4,028,786 174,691

Other current financial liabilities 14 - 51,903

Deferred revenue 15 134,769 520,434

Employee benefit liabilities 16 202,388 219,552

Tota l Curre nt lia bilitie s 5 ,9 9 2 ,8 2 9 3 ,3 5 4 ,2 4 2

Non- c urre nt lia bilitie s

Interest- bearing loans and borrowings 14 - 3,827,866

Deferred tax liabilities 7 6,510 55,048

Tota l Non- c urre nt lia bilitie s 6 ,5 10 3 ,8 8 2 ,9 14

TOTAL LIABILITIES 5 ,9 9 9 ,3 3 9 7 ,2 3 7 ,15 6

NET ASS ETS (4 ,7 4 0 ,6 0 3 ) (2 ,0 12 ,0 9 6 )

Equity

Contributed equity 18 20,186,318 19,041,318

Other capital reserves 19 996,283 636,521

Accumulated losses (25,477,510) (21,247,083)

Foreign currency translation reserve 19 (445,694) (442,852)

TOTAL EQUITY (4 ,7 4 0 ,6 0 3 ) (2 ,0 12 ,0 9 6 )

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,2 5 8 ,7 3 6 5 ,2 2 5 ,0 6 0
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

Contribute d 

e quity 

(Note  18 )

Othe r c a pita l 

re se rve s 

(Note  19 )

Re ta ine d 

e a rnings

Fore ign 

c urre nc y 

tra nsla tion

re se rve Tota l Equity

Note $ $ $ $ $

As a t 1 July 2 0 16 19 ,0 4 1,3 18 6 3 6 ,5 2 1 (2 1,2 4 7 ,0 8 3 ) (4 4 2 ,8 5 2 ) (2 ,0 12 ,0 9 6 )

Loss for the period - - (4,230,427) - (4,230,427)

Other comprehensive income - - - (2,842) (2,842)

Tota l c ompre he nsive  inc ome - - (4 ,2 3 0 ,4 2 7 ) (2 ,8 4 2 ) (4 ,2 3 3 ,2 6 9 )

Issue of share capital -  private 

placements 18 1,145,000 - - 1,145,000

Recognition of prior period issued 

options - 213,999 - - 213,999

Employee share- based payments 17 - 141,364 - - 141,364

Equity component -  convertible note - 4,399 - - 4,399

At 3 0  June  2 0 17 2 0 ,18 6 ,3 18 9 9 6 ,2 8 3 (2 5 ,4 7 7 ,5 10 ) (4 4 5 ,6 9 4 ) (4 ,7 4 0 ,6 0 3 )

Attributa ble  to the  e quity holde rs of the  pa re nt

Contribute d 

e quity 

(Note  18 )

Othe r c a pita l 

re se rve s 

(Note  19 )

Re ta ine d 

e a rnings

Fore ign 

c urre nc y 

tra nsla tion

re se rve Tota l Equity

Note $ $ $ $ $

As a t 1 July 2 0 15 18 ,8 0 4 ,9 0 2 9 1,19 4 (16 ,6 5 3 ,5 9 1) (4 0 6 ,10 9 ) 1,8 3 6 ,3 9 6

Loss for the period - - (4,593,492) - (4,593,492)

Other comprehensive income - - - (36,743) (36,743)

Tota l c ompre he nsive  inc ome - - (4 ,5 9 3 ,4 9 2 ) (3 6 ,7 4 3 ) (4 ,6 3 0 ,2 3 5 )

Issue of convertible note 14 - 180,985 - - 180,985

Exercise of Director A & B Options 

(Granted 22 May 2015) 17 236,416 (236,416) - - -

Recognition of prior period issued 

options 20 - 600,758 - - 600,758

At 3 0  June  2 0 16 19 ,0 4 1,3 18 6 3 6 ,5 2 1 (2 1,2 4 7 ,0 8 3 ) (4 4 2 ,8 5 2 ) (2 ,0 12 ,0 9 6 )

Attributa ble  to the  e quity holde rs of the  pa re nt
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

As at 30 June 2017 

 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

2 0 17 2 0 16

Note s $ $

Ope ra ting a c tivitie s

Receipts from customers 2,439,130 2,500,666

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,907,449) (5,420,491)

Interest received 4,904 17,061

Interest paid (595,720) (400,638)

Ne t c a sh flows use d in ope ra ting a c tivitie s 9 (2 ,0 5 9 ,13 5 ) (3 ,3 0 3 ,4 0 2 )

Inve sting a c tivitie s

Receipts from sale of property, plant and  equipment 10,000 -

Purchase of property, plant and  equipment - (32,738)

Purchase of intangible assets - -

Payments for development costs - (525,739)

Ne t c a sh flows use d in inve sting a c tivitie s 10 ,0 0 0 (5 5 8 ,4 7 7 )

Fina nc ing a c tivitie s

Proceeds from issue of shares and exerc ise of share options 18 960,000 -

Transaction costs on issue of shares/convertible notes 18 (201,588) -

Proceeds from borrowings 35,184 2,856,738

Repayment of borrowings (178,415) (1,356,504)

Ne t c a sh flows from fina nc ing a c tivitie s 6 15 ,18 1 1,5 0 0 ,2 3 4

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash  equivalents (1,433,954) (2,361,645)

Net foreign exchange  difference (14,186) 5,763

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 1,594,343 3,950,225

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  AT 3 0  JUNE 9 14 6 ,2 0 3 1,5 9 4 ,3 4 3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

1. Corporate information 
The consolidated financial statements of Tomizone Limited (Tomizone) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 

Group) for the year ended 30 June 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 

Directors on 29 September 2017. 

Tomizone Limited is a for profit company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are 

publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX: TOM). 

The separate financial statements of the parent entity, Tomizone Limited, have not been presented within this 

report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
2.1.  Basis of preparation 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.  The financial report has also been prepared 

on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments, which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 

Going Concern 

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the 

continuation of normal business operations and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the 

normal course of business. 

During the year the Group incurred losses and operating cash outflows as a result of investment in the growth 

of its sales pipeline and development and commercialisation of its WiFi management and analytics software 

platforms. This investment is made in anticipation of generating increased future revenues.  For the year 

ended 30 June 2017, the Group incurred a loss from continuing operations after tax of $4,230,427 which 

included one-off non-cash costs for impairment of $1,447,073 and restructuring costs of $99,203 (year ended 

30 June 2016: $4,593,492). In the same period the Group had operating cash outflows of $2,059,135 (year 

ended 30 June 2016 operating cash outflow: ($3,303,402).  In addition, as at 30 June 2017, the Group’s net 

current liabilities exceeded its net current assets in the amount of $5,307,848, primarily due to the original 

repayment terms of the Convertible Notes which were due in June 2018 (2016: net current liabilities exceeded 

its net current assets in the amount of $622,611).  See Note 22 for details of the Convertible Note extension. 

Management have prepared cash flow projections that supports the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.  The forecast assumes that the following: 

- The Group will continue to grow sales of its existing products and services, will successfully exploit the 

Group’s technology, and leverage the new resources and capability employed in the business, 

- The completion of the two business acquisitions that have been announced to the market, Bluesky 

Online Services and Ironman Group and achieve certain cost synergies across the merged Group as 

well as significant revenue growth, 

- Intention to undertake capital raising in the 12 months from balance date under the Company’s Rule 

7.1 and 7.1A capacity, 

- A period of trading with negative monthly cash flows, 

- Acknowledges that the merged Group of companies is in a period of growth and development, and 

- The potential to defer or convert, in agreement with Bondholders, the Convertible Notes repayment 

due in June 2018 
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The Directors of the Group consider that the cash flow projections and assumptions are reasonably  

conservative, will be achieved, and in the longer term, significant revenues will be generated from the 

commercialisation of its intellectual property, and accordingly, the Group will be able to continue as a going 

concern.  

The Group has a successful history of raising debt and equity since the Company’s inception in 2006 and the 

Directors expect to continue to be successful in this regard, noted by the successful placement ($0.2m) and 

rights issue ($1.84m) completed in July and August 2017. 

If the Group is unable to successfully commercialise its products, or to obtain such capital funding at an 

amount and timing necessary to meet the future operational plans, it may be unable to continue as a going 

concern. 

In the event that the Group cannot continue as a going concern it may not be able to realise its assets and 

settle its liabilities in the normal course of operations and at the amounts stated in the financial statements. 

2.2. Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below 

and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 

2.3. Changes in accounting policies, disclosures, standards and interpretations 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the 

Group, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such pronouncements on the Group when 

adopted in future periods, are discussed below: 

AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards - (applicable to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). 

The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the provisions on hedge accounting outlined below) 

and includes revised requirements for the classification and measurement of financial instruments, revised 

recognition and derecognition requirements for financial instruments and simplified requirements for hedge 

accounting. 

The key changes that may affect the Group on initial application include certain simplifications to the 

classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of embedded derivatives, upfront accounting 

for expected credit loss, and the irrevocable election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity 

instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income.  AASB 9 also introduces a new 

model for hedge accounting that will allow greater flexibility in the ability to hedge risk, particularly with 

respect to hedges of non-financial items.  Should the entity elect to change its hedge policies in line with the 

new hedge accounting requirements of the Standard, the application of such accounting would be largely 

prospective. 

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 does not have a significant impact on the Group’s 

financial statements. 

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers - (applicable to annual reporting periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2018). 

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements applicable to revenue with a 

single, principles-based model.  Except for a limited number of exceptions, including leases, the new revenue 

model in AASB 15 will apply to all contracts with customers as well as non-monetary exchanges between 

entities in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers and potential customers. 

The core principle of the Standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 

goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
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entitled in exchange for the goods or services.  To achieve this objective, AASB 15 provides the following five-

step process: 

• identify the contract(s) with a customer; 

• identify the performance obligations in the contract(s); 

• determine the transaction price; 

• allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract(s); and 

• recognise revenue when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied. 

 

This Standard will require retrospective restatement, as well as enhanced disclosures regarding revenue. 

Although the Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 15 may have an impact on the Group’s financial 

statements, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact. 

2.4. Significant accounting policies 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as 

at 30 June 2017.  Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control.  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 

Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.  Assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 

consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to 

control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders 

of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 

interests having a deficit balance.  When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 

subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.  All intra-group 

assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 

transaction.  If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including 

goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is 

recognised in profit or loss.  Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 

(b) Business combinations and goodwill 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The cost of an acquisition is 

measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the 

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business combination, the Group elects 

whether to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of 

the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 

pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 

acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 

the amount recognised for non- controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable 
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assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the 

aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets 

acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be 

recognised at the acquisition date.  If the re-assessment still results in an excess of   the fair value of net assets 

acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  For the 

purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 

allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 

irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 

operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal.  Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is 

measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit 

retained. 

(c) Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current 

classification.  An asset is current when it is: 

– Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the Group’s normal operating cycle; and 

– Held primarily for the purpose of trading; and 

– Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period 

Or 

– Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period 

The Group classifies all other assets as non- current. 

A liability is current when: 

– It is expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle; and 

– It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; and 

– It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period 

Or 

– There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non- current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

(d) Foreign currency translation 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($), which is also the 

parent’s functional currency.  For each entity the Group determines the functional currency and items 

included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.  The Group 

uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is 

reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this method. 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional 

currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 

spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. 
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Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.  The 

gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the 

recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair 

value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively). 

Group companies 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the 

rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at 

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  The exchange differences arising on translation for 

consolidation purpose are recognised in other comprehensive income and reflected in the foreign currency 

translation reserve in the statement of financial position.  On disposal of a foreign operation, the component 

of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss. 

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 

operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. 

(e) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 

the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is received.  Revenue is measured at 

the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of 

payment and excluding taxes or duty.  The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its 

revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, has pricing latitude and 

is also exposed to inventory and credit risks.  The specific recognition criteria described below must also be 

met before revenue is recognised. 

Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 

goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods.  Revenue from the sale of goods is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade 

discounts and volume rebates.  The Group does not provide any extended warranties or maintenance 

contracts to its customers. 

Sale of services 

Revenue from the sale of services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered by 

reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual services provided as a 

proportion of the total services to be provided.  When the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, 

revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered. 

Sale of subscriptions 

Revenue is generated from subscription sales and once the customer has taken undisputed delivery of the 

services.  The revenue from the subscription agreement is recognised on a monthly basis at equal amounts 

for each month of the subscription agreement.  In recognising subscription sales revenues, the Group 

considers the nature of the tenure of the agreement and the useful life of the services being provided under 

the subscription agreement. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR).  Interest income is included in finance 

income in the statement of profit or loss. 
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(f) Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 

are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group 

operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 

statement of profit or loss.  Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 

to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 

appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

– When the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 

in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

 

– In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 

controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 

credits and any unused tax losses.  Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

– When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

 

– In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 

the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 

which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 

asset to be utilised.  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 

recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 

asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss.  Deferred 

tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or 

directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 

taxation authority. 
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Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate 

recognition at that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances 

change.  The adjustment is either treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if 

it was incurred during the measurement period or recognised in profit or loss. 

Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except: 

– When the GST incurred on a sale or purchase of assets or services is not payable to or recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the revenue or the expense item or as part 

of the cost of acquisition of the asset, as applicable. 

– When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 

receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.  Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 

net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 

arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 

is classified as part of operating cash flows. 

(g) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any.  All repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment transferred from customers is initially measured at the fair value at the date 

on which control is obtained. 

Depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Plant and equipment 20% - 50% (diminishing value)

Furniture, fittings and equipment 15% - 50% (diminishing value)

Motor vehicles 20% (straight line)

Leasehold improvements 10% - 40% (diminishing value)

Leased plant and equipment 20% (straight line)  

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 

at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 

disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 

Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised. 

(h) Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 

arrangement at the inception of the lease.  The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the 

arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use 

the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 

Group as a lessee 

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease.  A lease that transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance lease.  An 

operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. 
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Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased 

property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve 

a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are recognised in finance 

costs in the statement of profit or loss. 

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset.  However, if there is no reasonable certainty that 

the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 

estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the statement of profit or loss on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(i) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.  The cost of intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition.  Following initial recognition, 

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  

Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related 

expenditure is reflected in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 

whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  The amortisation period and the 

amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each 

reporting period.  Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 

economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as 

appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates and adjusted on a prospective basis.  The 

amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as 

the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either 

individually or at the cash- generating unit level.  The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to 

determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable.  If not, the change in useful life from 

indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Research and development costs 

Research costs are expensed as incurred.  Development expenditures on an individual project are recognised 

as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

– The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset be available for use or sale; 

– Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset; 

– How the asset will generate future economic benefits; 

– The availability of resources to complete the asset; 

– The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development; and 

– The ability to use the intangible asset generated 

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation is calculated on a systematic 

basis based on the future economic benefits over the useful life of the project.  During the period of 

development, the asset is tested for impairment at a minimum annually, and as indicators arise. 
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A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is as follows: 

 

(j) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 

equity instrument of another entity. 

(i) Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, AFS financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not subsequently 

measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the 

financial asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two categories: 

– Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

– Loans and receivables 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets 

designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial assets are classified as held 

for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.  Derivatives, 

including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 

effective hedging instruments as defined by AASB 139. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 

value with net changes in fair value presented as finance costs (negative net changes in fair value) or finance 

income (positive net changes in fair value) in the statement of profit or loss.  

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if 

their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host 

contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or loss.  These embedded 

derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit and loss.  Re-assessment 

only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows 

that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or 

loss. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

S oftwa re Custome r Contra c ts De ve lopme nt Costs

Use ful live s Finite 

(5 years)

Finite 

(9 years)

Finite 

(7 years)

Amortisa tion me thod use d Amortised on a straight- line 

basis over the period of 

expected future

Amortised on a straight- line 

basis over the period of the 

expected future value of 

customers

Amortised on a straight- line 

basis over the period of 

expected future sales from 

the related project

Inte rna lly ge ne ra te d or a c quire d Acquired Acquired Internally generated

Re ma ining e stima te d life 0 years 2 years 0 years
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De-recognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 

is primarily de-recognised (i.e. removed from the group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when: 

– The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

– The asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing 

involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired.  An impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the 

initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 

the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may 

include indications that the debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default 

or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter insolvency or other 

financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated 

future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

(ii) Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives 

designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 

payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings, including bank 

overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 

liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial liabilities are 

classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.  This 

category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as 

hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by AASB 139.  Separated embedded derivatives are 

also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as finance costs 

or finance income. 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 

initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in AASB 139 are satisfied.  The Group has not designated any 

financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.  Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the 

liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.  

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 

that are an integral part of the EIR.  The EIR amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit 

or loss. 
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This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.  For more information refer to Note 

14.1. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 

expires.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 

different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 

modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.  The 

difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 

statement of financial position if there is a current enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts 

and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 (k) Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Net realisable value represents the 

estimated selling price for the inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make 

the sales. 

Work in progress is recognised as the cost incurred in the construction of assets not yet completed. 

(l) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If 

any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the 

asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating 

unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.  Recoverable amount is determined for an 

individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 

other assets or groups of assets.  When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 

amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset.  In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account.  If no 

such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  These calculations are 

corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair 

value indicators. 

The Group bases its impairment calculation on budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared 

separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated.  These budgets and 

forecast calculations generally cover a period of five to ten years.  For longer periods, a long-term growth rate 

is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the last forecast year. 

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is 

any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If 

such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGUs recoverable amount.  A previously recognized 

impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s 

recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  The reversal is limited so that the carrying 

amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 

years.  Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
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Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 30 June and when circumstances indicate that the carrying 

value may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) 

to which the goodwill relates.  When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an 

impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.  Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot 

be reversed in future periods. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at 30 June at the CGU level, 

as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

(m) Provisions 

Wages, salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non- monetary benefits and accumulating annual leave which are 

expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised as current liabilities in respect of 

employees’ services up to the reporting date.  They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 

the liabilities are settled. 

Restructuring 

Liabilities for restructuring are recognised only if a plan for the restructuring has been developed and 

implemented, or management has at least announced the plan’s main features to those affected by it. 

(n) Share-based payments 

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based 

payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled 

transactions). 

Equity-settled transactions 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made 

using an appropriate valuation model.  That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in 

other capital reserves in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 

fulfilled in employee benefits expense.  The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at 

each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the 

Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.  The statement of profit or 

loss expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the 

beginning and end of that period and is recognised in employee benefits expense. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions for 

which vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition.  These are treated as vesting irrespective 

of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or 

service conditions are satisfied. 

When the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the 

expense as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met.  An additional 

expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment 

transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted 

earnings per share (further details are given in Note 8). 

Cash-settled transactions 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using a binomial 

model, further details of which are given in Note 17.  This fair value is expensed over the period until the 

vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability.  The liability is remeasured to fair value at each 



Tomizone Limited Annual Report 2017 �� 

 

reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in employee 

benefits expense. 

(o) Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives and non-financial assets such as investment 

properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement is based on 

the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

– In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

– In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 

when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 

that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 

of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

– Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

– Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

– Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the 

Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 

categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at 

the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 

basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 

explained above. 

(p) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest methods, less provision for impairment.  This provision includes amounts that are not 

considered to be recoverable from debtors and amounts that are expected to be credited to debtors.  Trade 

receivables are generally due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.  They are 

presented as current assets unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months after the reporting 

date. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  A provision for impairment of trade 

receivables is established where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 

amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.  Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 

probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 

payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.  In addition, the trade receivable 
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balances are considered for credit notes that are expected to be raised against individual and collective 

balances. 

(q) Cash and short-term deposits 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand. 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, as 

defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash 

management. 

3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and 

assumptions 
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 

the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.  Uncertainty about these 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying 

amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

Other disclosures relating to the Group’s exposure to risks and uncertainties include: 

– Financial risk management objectives and policies — Note 14.2 

– Capital management — Note 14.3 

 

Judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 

which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 

date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.  The Group based its assumptions and estimates 

on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.  Existing circumstances 

and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances 

arising beyond the control of the Group.  Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit (CGU) exceeds its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of   its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.  The fair 

value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted 

at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the 

asset.  The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model.  

The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities 

that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s 

performance of the CGU being tested.  The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the 

DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.  

These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

recognised by the Group.  The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different 

CGUs, including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed and further explained in Note 11. 

Share-based payments 

The Group initially measures the cost of cash-settled transactions with employees using a binomial model to 

determine the fair value of the liability incurred.  The Group initially measures the cost of equity-settled 

transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they 
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are granted.  Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determination of the most 

appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.  This estimate also 

requires determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of 

the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.  For cash-settled share-

based payment transactions, the liability needs to be remeasured at the end of each reporting period up to 

the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.  This requires a 

reassessment of the estimates used at the end of each reporting period.  The assumptions and models used 

for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 17. 

Taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 

will be available against which the losses can be utilised.  Significant management judgement is required to 

determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the 

level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

Development costs 

The Group capitalises development costs in accordance with the accounting policy.  Initial capitalisation of 

costs is based on management’s judgement that technological and economical feasibility is confirmed, usually 

when a product development project has reached a defined milestone according to an established project 

management model.  In determining the amounts to be capitalised, management makes assumptions 

regarding the expected future cash generation of the project, discount rates to be applied and the expected 

period of benefits.  At 30 June 2017, the carrying amount of capitalised development costs was $0 (2016: 

$1,663,288). 

4. Information about subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include: 

 

5. Segment information 
Tomizone’s operating segment has been determined based on internal management reporting structure and 

the nature of the product provided by Tomizone.  It reflects the business level at which financial information is 

provided to management for decision making regarding resource allocation and performance assessment.  

On this basis it is concluded that Tomizone is reviewed for management purpose as a single operating 

segment. 

The Group operates in one industry, being the provision of managed services for WiFi connectivity, and other 

technology related management services, and is based primarily in Australia and New Zealand.  The Group 

has identified its operating segment based on internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of 

Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of 

resources. 

Na me Country of inc orpora tion 2 0 17 2 0 16

Tomizone New Zealand Limited New Zealand 100.0 100.0

Tomizone Australia Pty Limited Australia 100.0 100.0

Jimojo Pty Limited Australia 100.0 100.0

Tomizone Inc USA 100.0 100.0

Tomizone India Pvt Limited India 100.0 100.0

Tomizone International Limited New Zealand 100.0 100.0

Tomizone Licensing Limited New Zealand 100.0 100.0

Tomizone Consulting Beijing Company  Limited China 100.0 100.0

Bargain Oil Pty Limited Australia 100.0 100.0

% Equity inte re st
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6. Other income/expenses 
6.1. Other operating income/(loss) 

 

 

6.2. Operating lease expenses 

 

 

6.3. Finance costs 

 

7. Income tax 
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 30 June 2017 and 2016 are: 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss 

 

Reconciliation between tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Australia’s domestic tax rate for 

2017 and 2016: 

 

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and  equipment (6,886) 783

Foreign exchange gains/(loss) -  (net) (22,251) 10,631

(2 9 ,13 7 ) 11,4 14

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Operating lease expenses 77,596 178,178

7 7 ,5 9 6 17 8 ,17 8

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Interest on debt and borrowings (687,785) (515,172)

Tota l inte re st e xpe nse (6 8 7 ,7 8 5 ) (5 15 ,17 2 )

Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or   loss - (3,230)

Tota l fina nc e  c osts (6 8 7 ,7 8 5 ) (5 18 ,4 0 2 )

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Prior year adjustments - 6,935

Deferred tax / (benefit) (51,027) (195,631)

Inc ome  ta x e xpe nse  /  (be ne fit) re porte d in the  c onsolida te d sta te me nt of 

profit or loss (5 1,0 2 7 ) (18 8 ,6 9 6 )

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Ac c ounting loss be fore  inc ome  ta x (4 ,2 8 1,4 5 4 ) (4 ,7 8 2 ,18 8 )

At Australia’s statutory income tax rate of 30% (2016: 30%) (1,284,436) (1,434,657)

Non- de duc tible  e xpe nse s for ta x purpose s

Impairment of intangible asset 378,501 (94,800)

Other non- deductible expenses 60,433 (21,965)

Deferred tax assets not recognised 753,648 1,312,690

Effect of lower tax rate in NZ of 28% (2016: 28%) 40,828 50,035

Inc ome  ta x e xpe nse  /  (be ne fit) re porte d in the  sta te me nt of profit or loss (5 1,0 2 7 ) (18 8 ,6 9 6 )
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Deferred tax / (benefit) 

Deferred tax relates to the following: 

 

Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 

assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes 

levied by the same tax authority. 

The Group has recognised no deferred tax assets for temporary differences or unused tax losses.  The 

benefits of the temporary differences and unused tax losses will only be realized if the conditions for 

deductibility set out in Note 2.4 (f) occur. 

  

2 0 17 20 16 2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $ $ $

Alternative depreciation for tax purposes (26,649) (62,393) (35,845) (40,823)

Intangibles in Jimojo acqusition (6,035) (30,000) (23,965) (150,000)

Employee liabilities 33,384 41,705 8,783 (4,808)

De ferre d ta x e xpe nse / (inc ome )
- - (5 1,0 2 7 ) (195 ,6 3 1)

Ne t de fe rre d ta x  (lia bilitie s)/a sse ts 70 0 (5 0 ,6 88 )

Consolida te d sta teme nt of 

profit or loss

Consolida te d sta te me nt of 

financ ia l position

Deferred tax assets 7,210 4,360

Deferred tax liabilities (6,510) (55,048)

De fe rre d tax liabilities,  ne t 7 00 (50 ,6 88 )
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8. Earnings per share (EPS) 
Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 

parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 

parent (after adjusting for interest on the convertible preference shares) by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would 

be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations: 

 

Refer to Note 22 for details of the Placement undertaken on 4 July 2017, and Entitlement Offer completed 

August 2017. 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the 

reporting date and the date of authorisation of these financial statements. 

9. Cash and short-term deposits 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 

following at 30 June: 

 

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  The Group has pledged a 

part of its short-term deposits to fulfil collateral requirements.  Refer to Note 14.1 for details of bank 

overdrafts. 

  

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

(Loss) a ttributa ble  to ordina ry e quity holde rs of the  pa re nt

(Loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent for basic earnings & 

dilution (4,233,269) (4,630,235)

(Loss) a ttributa ble  to ordina ry e quity holde rs of the  P a re nt 

a djuste d for the  e ffe c t of dilution (4 ,2 3 3 ,2 6 9 ) (4 ,6 3 0 ,2 3 5 )

'0 0 0 '0 0 0

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic  EPS 102,330 95,068

Effe c t of dilution:

Performance shares & options 31,267 32,437

We ighte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordina ry sha re s a djuste d for the  

e ffe c t of dilution 13 3 ,5 9 7 12 7 ,5 0 5

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Cash at banks and on hand 228,791 1,676,020

Bank overdrafts (82,588) (81,677)

Ca sh a nd c a sh e quiva le nts 14 6 ,2 0 3 1,5 9 4 ,3 4 3
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Cash flow reconciliation 

 

10. Trade and other receivables 

 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 days. 

As at 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

 

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Re c onc ilia tion of ne t profit /  (loss) a fte r ta x to ne t c a sh flows from ope ra tions:

Loss after tax from continuing operations (4,230,427) (4,593,492)

Adjustme nts to re c onc ile  profit /  (loss) a fte r ta x to ne t c a sh flows: 

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 191,765 319,452

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 1,729,500 571,118

Share based payment expense 355,363 600,758

Transaction costs on issue of shares/convertible notes 201,588 -

Gain / (Loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,886) (783)

Fair value through profit and loss - 3,230

Non- deductible sundry expense - 1,434

Deferred tax movements (51,027) (190,402)

Movements in provisions 7,654 13,236

Amortised Loan Fees 97,440 48,162

Working c a pita l a djustme nts

(Increase)/ decrease in trade and other receivables and prepayments 570,578 (797,955)

(Decrease)/ increase in trade and other payables (923,454) 689,959

Decrease/ (increase) in inventories (1,230) 31,881

Ne t c a sh flows use d in ope ra ting a c tivitie s (2 ,0 5 9 ,13 5 ) (3 ,3 0 3 ,4 0 2 )

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Trade receivables 117,188 652,550

Other receivables 199,121 334,417

Prepayments 136,952 62,768

Tota l tra de  & othe r re c e iva ble s 4 5 3 ,2 6 1 1,0 4 9 ,7 3 5

Tota l

Ne ithe r pa st 

due  nor 

impa ire d < 3 0  da ys 3 0 - 6 0  da ys 6 1- 9 0  da ys > 9 0  da ys

$ $ $ $ $

2 0 17 119,710 71,588 25,177 1,300 2,235 19,411

2 0 16 652,550 577,659 20,489 13,395 971 40,037
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11. Intangible assets 

 

 

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives 

Goodwill is allocated to the WiFi services business unit.  This business unit currently consists of two revenue 

streams representing Tomizone business unit and Jimojo business unit.  On an annual basis management 

undertake a value-in-use assessment of the carrying value of its goodwill and other intangibles, to test for 

impairment.   

Development Costs 

The revenue assumptions are fundamental assumptions in the value-in-use assessments.  An impairment loss 

of $1,401,073 (2016: $Nil) was recognised for the internally developed software product, Lightswitch, which 

action wrote-off the entire carrying value of Lightswitch.  The recoverable amount of the asset is its value-in-

use, was determined by management’s expectation that the market will shift considerably towards other 

lower cost, feature rich alternative WiFi software products within Tomizone’s current product set. 

The migration of customers to other Tomizone products will significantly reduce future revenues and profits 

from Lightswitch in the foreseeable future, and as such, management have fully impaired the software.  The 

carrying amount of the Lightswitch software as at 30 June 2017 is $Nil (2016: $1,663,288). 

De ve lopme nt 

c osts

Pa te nts a nd 

lic e nc e s with 

de finite  

use ful life Softwa re

Custome r 

c ontra c ts Goodwill Tota l

$ $ $ $ $ $

Cost

At 1 July 2 0 15 3 ,8 2 5 ,4 10 2 7 ,9 8 5 8 0 2 ,9 9 9 2 6 3 ,0 0 0 1,5 4 4 ,8 8 4 6 ,4 6 4 ,2 7 8

Additions 474,670 - - - - 474,670

Exchange differences 354,983 - 1,377 - - 356,360

At 3 0  June /1 July 2 0 16 4 ,6 5 5 ,0 6 3 2 7 ,9 8 5 8 0 4 ,3 7 6 2 6 3 ,0 0 0 1,5 4 4 ,8 8 4 7 ,2 9 5 ,3 0 8

Additions - - - - - -

Disposals - (27,985) (16,623) - - (44,608)

Exchange differences (20,963) - (753) - - (21,716)

At 3 0  June  2 0 17 4 ,6 3 4 ,10 0 - 7 8 7 ,0 0 0 2 6 3 ,0 0 0 1,5 4 4 ,8 8 4 7 ,2 2 8 ,9 8 4

Amortisa tion a nd impa irme nt

At 1 July 2 0 15 2 ,6 9 0 ,9 0 8 2 7 ,9 8 5 3 2 7 ,0 9 5 13 3 ,0 0 0 1,2 0 5 ,9 8 8 4 ,3 8 4 ,9 7 6

Amortisation 69,118 - 157,000 29,000 - 255,118

Impairment - - 316,000 - - 316,000

Exchange differences 231,749 - 3,271 - - 235,020

At 3 0  June /1 July 2 0 16 2 ,9 9 1,7 7 5 2 7 ,9 8 5 8 0 3 ,3 6 6 16 2 ,0 0 0 1,2 0 5 ,9 8 8 5 ,19 1,114

Amortisation 253,173 - 254 29,000 - 282,427

Disposals - (27,985) (15,900) - (43,885)

Impairment 1,401,073 - - 46,000 - 1,447,073

Exchange differences (11,921) - (720) - - (12,641)

At 3 0  June  2 0 17 4 ,6 3 4 ,10 0 - 7 8 7 ,0 0 0 2 3 7 ,0 0 0 1,2 0 5 ,9 8 8 6 ,8 6 4 ,0 8 8

Ne t book va lue

As 3 0  June  2 0 16 1,6 6 3 ,2 8 8 - 1,0 10 10 1,0 0 0 3 3 8 ,8 9 6 2 ,10 4 ,19 4

As 3 0  June  2 0 17 - - - 2 6 ,0 0 0 3 3 8 ,8 9 6 3 6 4 ,8 9 6



Tomizone Limited Annual Report 2017 �� 

 

Goodwill and Customer Contracts 

The carrying value of intangible assets, including goodwill and customer contracts is dependent upon revenue 

streams generated by the current customer base and therefore the achievement of the value-in-use 

assessment assumptions. 

Cash flows beyond the 5-year forecast period were extrapolated using a terminal growth rate assumption of 

0.0%.  The pre-tax discount rate applied to determine the present value of the cashflow projection is 17.0%.  

This pre-tax discount rate is determined with reference to the risk adjusted weighted cost of capital 

instruments, debt and equity, issued previously by the Company.  There is no readily accessible market 

discount rate reference available. 

The discounted cash flow valuation of the goodwill in the Tomizone business unit indicated that the 

recoverable amount exceeds the carrying value. 

The value-in-use calculation is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

– Revenue assumption 

– Discount rate 

– Terminal growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows 
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12. Property, plant and equipment 

 

 

Leased plant and equipment 

The carrying value of plant and equipment held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts as 30 June 

2017 was $Nil (2016: $222,831).  The carrying value was reclassified to Plant and Equipment at the expiry of 

the finance leases. 

Pla nt a nd 

e quipme nt

Furniture ,  

fittings,  a nd 

e quipme nt

Motor 

Ve hic le s

Le a se hold 

improve me nts

Le a se d pla nt 

a nd 

e quipme nt Tota l

$ $ $ $ $ $

Cost

At 1 July 2 0 15 4 9 3 ,4 7 5 4 4 ,4 3 3 5 0 ,9 9 5 11,5 7 0 9 8 2 ,8 6 2 1,5 8 3 ,3 3 5

Additions 31,250 3,734 - - - 34,984

Disposals (2,041) (2,970) - - - (5,011)

Exchange differences 37,841 2,565 - 997 84,626 126,029

At 3 0  June /1 July 2 0 16 5 6 0 ,5 2 5 4 7 ,7 6 2 5 0 ,9 9 5 12 ,5 6 7 1,0 6 7 ,4 8 8 1,7 3 9 ,3 3 7

Additions 3,286 - - - - 3,286

Disposals (221,382) (30,609) (18,002) (8,288) - (278,281)

Reclassification 1,067,488 - - - (1,067,488) -

Exchange differences (13,731) (2,005) - (393) - (16,129)

At 3 0  June  2 0 17 1,3 9 6 ,18 6 15 ,14 8 3 2 ,9 9 3 3 ,8 8 6 - 1,4 4 8 ,2 13

De pre c ia tion

At 1 July 2 0 15 3 2 6 ,5 2 9 3 2 ,9 0 9 15 ,14 8 5 ,9 2 8 5 8 2 ,8 4 1 9 6 3 ,3 5 5

Depreciation charged for the 

year 101,233 2,516 10,199 1,562 203,942 319,452

Disposals (105) (2,966) - - - (3,071)

Exchange differences 25,287 2,687 - 510 57,874 86,358

At 3 0  June /1 July 2 0 16 4 5 2 ,9 4 4 3 5 ,14 6 2 5 ,3 4 7 8 ,0 0 0 8 4 4 ,6 5 7 1,3 6 6 ,0 9 4

Depreciation charged for the 

year 181,572 1,825 7,564 804 - 191,765

Disposals (222,158) (24,720) (10,200) (5,516) - (262,594)

Reclassification 844,657 - - - (844,657) -

Exchange differences (9,990) (925) - (257) - (11,172)

At 3 0  June  2 0 17 1,2 4 7 ,0 2 5 11,3 2 6 2 2 ,7 11 3 ,0 3 1 - 1,2 8 4 ,0 9 3

Ne t book va lue

As 3 0  June  2 0 16 10 7 ,5 8 1 12 ,6 16 2 5 ,6 4 8 4 ,5 6 7 2 2 2 ,8 3 1 3 7 3 ,2 4 3

As 3 0  June  2 0 17 14 9 ,16 1 3 ,8 2 2 10 ,2 8 2 8 5 5 - 16 4 ,12 0
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13. Trade and other payables 

 

14. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
14.1. Financial liabilities, Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 
 

Bank overdrafts 

The Group operates overdrafts with mainstream commercial banks.  The approved limits are in NZD $40,000 

and in AUD $50,000. 

Convertible Notes 

 

These notes were issued on 14 June 2016 and are convertible into 28,000,000 ordinary shares at any time up 

to 13 June 2018.  The convertible notes have a face value of $4,200,000 and a carrying amount of $3,920,907 

as at 30 June 2017 (2016: $3,827,866).  The convertible notes are secured by first ranking general security 

interest over all assets of the Company and all its wholly owned subsidiaries. 

As announced by the Company on 4 July 2017 as part of the capital raising it has entered into an agreement 

with the convertible note holders to extend the maturity date of $3,150,000 of the existing $4,200,000 of 

convertible notes to 14 August 2019.  Concurrently with the extension on 14 August 2017 the Company 

redeemed $840,000 of the convertible notes, of which $420,000 formed part of the underwriting of the 

Entitlement Offer, also announced 4 July 2017.  Refer to Note 22 for further details. 

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Trade payables 615,083 624,073

Other payables 571,457 627,714

Accrued expenses 272,516 472,350

Payroll tax and other statutory liabilities 167,830 663,525

1,6 2 6 ,8 8 6 2 ,3 8 7 ,6 6 2

Inte re st Ra te 2 0 17 2 0 16

% $ $

Curre nt inte re st- be a ring loa ns a nd borrowings

Bank overdrafts 18% 82,588 81,677

Credit cards 21% 25,291 35,720

Loan from third party investor 10% - 57,294

Convertible Notes 12.5% 3,920,907 -

Tota l c urre nt 4 ,0 2 8 ,7 8 6 17 4 ,6 9 1

Non- c urre nt inte re st- be a ring loa ns a nd borrowings

Convertible Notes 12.5% - 3,827,866

Tota l non- c urre nt - 3 ,8 2 7 ,8 6 6

Tota l inte re st- be a ring loa ns a nd borrowings 4 ,0 2 8 ,7 8 6 4 ,0 0 2 ,5 5 7

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

4,200,000 4,200,000

(194,885) (194,885)

Ne t proc e e ds 4 ,0 0 5 ,115 4 ,0 0 5 ,115

(185,384) (180,985)

101,176 3,736

Ca rrying a mount of lia bility a s a t 3 0  June 3 ,9 2 0 ,9 0 7 3 ,8 2 7 ,8 6 6

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes (28,000,000 notes at 0.15 par value)

Transaction costs

Amount c lassified as equity (net of transaction costs)

Amortised transaction costs
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Loan from third party investor 

The loan was unsecured with a maturity date of 1 July 2016 and was repaid on this date. 

Other financial liabilities 

 

14.2. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

 
The Group’s principal financial assets include loans, trade and other receivables, and cash and short-term 

deposits that derive directly from its operations.  The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than 

derivatives, comprise of loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.  The main purpose of these 

financial liabilities is to finance and support the Group’s operations. 

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  Senior management oversee the 

management of these risks.  Senior management is supported by an Audit & Risk Committee that advises on 

financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Group.  The Audit & Risk 

Committee provides assurance to the Senior management that the financial risk activities are governed by 

appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in 

accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives.  All derivative activities for risk management 

purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the appropriate skills, experience and supervision.  It is 

the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes may be undertaken.  The Board of 

Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices.  Market risk comprise three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and 

other price risk. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates.  The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest 

rates is limited due primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations that have fixed interest rates. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of 

changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates 

relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign 

currency) and the Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries. 

  

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Othe r fina nc ia l lia bilitie s a t a mortise d  c ost

Finance lease liability -  current - 51,903

Tota l othe r fina nc ia l lia bilitie s a t a mortise d c ost - 5 1,9 0 3
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Foreign currency sensitivity 

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the NZD exchange rate, 

with all other variables held constant.  The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair 

value of monetary assets and liabilities.  The Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other 

currencies is not material. 

 

The movement in the pre-tax effect is a result of a change in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in AU dollars, where the functional currency of the entity is a currency other than AU dollars. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. 

Other credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with reputable banks and security deposits 

with landlords. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 

impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial 

statements.  The Group does not hold any collateral. 

Credit risk is managed by a risk assessment process for all customers and counterparties, which takes into 

account past experience.  There have been no impairment losses recognised during the year (2016: nil). 

Trade receivables 

Customer credit risk is managed to the Group’s established polices, procedures and control relating to 

customer credit risk management.  Credit quality of the customer is assessed at the time of customer 

acquisition.  Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.   The 

Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, where possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 

to meet its liabilities when due and aligns its revenues with its expenses. 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity management rests with the Directors.  The Group ensures that, where 

possible, it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected net cash outflows, including the servicing of 

financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be 

predicted, such as natural disasters. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring actual 

and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

  

Cha nge  in 

NZD ra te

Effe c t on 

profit be fore  

ta x

Effe c t on 

e quity

$ $

2 0 17 - 5.00% 100,716 9,531

2 0 16 - 5.00% 125,128 102,523
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Maturities of financial liabilities 

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities.  

The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 

earliest date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid.  The tables include both interest and 

principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from 

their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual 

undiscounted payments. 

Year ended 30 June 2017 

 

Refer to Note 22 for details on redemption and extension of convertible notes subsequent to 30 June 2017. 

Year ended 30 June 2016 

 

14.3. Capital management 

 
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital and all other equity 

reserves attributable to the equity holders of the parent.  The primary objective of the Group’s capital 

management is to maximise the shareholder value. 

The Board ensures the Group has sufficient capital as required for working capital purposes.  There were no 

changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.  The Group is not subject to 

externally imposed capital requirements. 

15. Deferred revenue 

 

The deferred revenue reflects revenue invoiced where the service has not been provided. 

  

1 yea r or less 1 to 2  yea rs 2  to 5  yea rs Over 5  ye ars Tota l

$ $ $ $ $

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 4,811,004 - - - 4,811,004

Finance lease liability - - - - -

Trade and other payables 1,626,886 - - - 1,626,886

6 ,4 37 ,8 90 - - - 6 ,43 7 ,89 0

1 year or le ss 1 to 2  ye ars 2  to 5  ye ars Ove r 5  ye ars Tota l

$ $ $ $ $

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 699,691 4,703,125 - - 5,402,816

Finance lease liability 51,903 - - - 51,903

Trade and other payables 2,387,662 - - - 2,387,662

3 ,13 9 ,25 6 4 ,7 03 ,12 5 - - 7 ,8 42 ,3 81

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Ope ning Ba la nc e  a t 1 July 5 2 0 ,4 3 4 4 3 ,9 9 9

Deferred during the year 217,148 520,434

Recognised during the year (602,813) (43,999)

Closing Ba la nc e  a t 3 0  June 13 4 ,7 6 9 5 2 0 ,4 3 4
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16. Employee benefit liabilities 
Annual leave and accrued salaries 

 

17. Share-based payments 
Director and executive service agreements awards are made to directors, executives, and other key talent 

who have an impact on the Group’s performance.  Awards are delivered in the form of options over shares 

which vest over a period of one to three years subject to meeting performance measures. 

Options movements during the year 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2017 was 

1.349 years. 

With respect to options granted during the current financial year the fair value at grant date was 

independently determined using the Black Scholes Model that takes into account the exercise price, the term 

of the option, the impact of dilution (where material), the share price at grant date and expected price 

volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the term of the 

option and the correlations and volatilities of the peer group companies. 

  

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Curre nt

Annual leave 61,907 88,220

Accrued salaries 140,481 131,332

At 3 0  June 2 0 2 ,3 8 8 2 19 ,5 5 2

2 0 17 WAEP 2 0 16 WAEP

Outsta nding a t the  be ginning of the  ye a r 10 ,3 5 4 ,9 0 2 0 .2 3 3 0 11,5 3 6 ,9 8 6 0 .2 0 9 2

Gra nte d during the  ye a r

Executive & Employee Options -  FY16 10,000,001 0.1383 - 0.0000

Executive & Employee Options -  FY17 715,959 0.0258 - -

Exe rc ise d during the  ye a r

Director A & B options (1,182,084) -

Expire d during the  ye a r

Executive & Employee Options -  FY16 (6,000,000) 0.1120

Director C options (1,791,036) 0.2200

Global Advisor Options (1,410,598) 0.2200

Outsta nding a t the  e nd of the  ye a r 11,8 6 9 ,2 2 8 0 .2 0 5 4 10 ,3 5 4 ,9 0 2 0 .2 3 3 0

Exe rc isa ble  a t c losing da te

Incentive C options 375,000 0.4000

Director C options 1,791,036 0.2200

Director D options 1,791,036 0.2200

Global Advisor options 1,410,598 0.2200

Executive & Employee options -  FY17 171,528 0.0262
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Options granted during the year 

 

18. Contributed equity 
Authorised shares 

The share capital of Tomizone Limited consists of fully paid ordinary shares which entitle the holder to 

participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up the company in proportion to the number 

of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to 

one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. 

Ordinary shares have no par value and the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

 

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid 

 

Grant Da te Expiry Da te

Share  pric e  

a t gra nt da te

Exe rc ise  

Price

Expe cte d 

Vola tility

Risk Fre e  

Ra te

Divide nd 

Y ie ld

Fa ir Va lue  a t 

grant da te

27/10/2015 1/07/2019 0.1400$                0.220$                  87% 2% 0% 0.0434$               

27/10/2015 1/07/2019 0.1400$                0.240$                  87% 2% 0% 0.0569$               

27/10/2015 31/12/2019 0.1400$                0.270$                  87% 2% 0% 0.0663$               

27/10/2015 1/07/2017 0.1400$                

 20% discount 

90 day VWAP 87% 2% 0% 0.0081$                

27/10/2015 1/07/2018 0.1400$                

 20% discount 

90 day VWAP 87% 2% 0% 0.0181$                 

27/10/2015 1/07/2019 0.1400$                

 20% discount 

90 day VWAP 87% 2% 0% 0.0269$               

27/10/2015 1/07/2019 0.1400$                

 20% discount 

90 day VWAP 87% 2% 0% 0.0218$                

15/09/2016 0.0600$               -$                       87% 2% 0% 0.0600$               

31/10/2016 31/10/2017 0.0520$               0.048$                  87% 2% 0% 0.0074$               

31/10/2016 31/10/2017 0.0520$               0.048$                  87% 2% 0% 0.0122$                

31/10/2016 31/10/2017 0.0520$               0.048$                  87% 2% 0% 0.0154$                

31/10/2016 31/10/2017 0.0520$               0.048$                  87% 2% 0% 0.0178$                

31/10/2016 1/11/2021 0.0520$               

 20% discount 

30 day VWAP 87% 2% 0% 0.0276$               

31/10/2016 1/11/2022 0.0520$               

 20% discount 

30 day VWAP 87% 2% 0% 0.0318$                

31/10/2016 1/11/2023 0.0520$               

 20% discount 

30 day VWAP 87% 2% 0% 0.0349$               

2 0 17 2 0 16

'0 0 0 '0 0 0

Ordinary shares 108,875 96,153

10 8 ,8 7 5 9 6 ,15 3

'0 0 0 $

At 1 July 2 0 15 9 4 ,9 7 1 18 ,8 0 4 ,9 0 2

Exercise of Director A & B Options (Granted 22 May 2015) 1,182 236,416

At 3 0  June /1 July 2 0 16 9 6 ,15 3 19 ,0 4 1,3 18

Issue of share capital -  private placement 24 Oct 2016 2,056 185,000

Issue of share capital -  private placement 10 Jan 2017 10,667 960,000

At 3 0  June  2 0 17 10 8 ,8 7 5 2 0 ,18 6 ,3 18
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In addition to options issued for remuneration, as referenced in Note 17, the Company has the following 

options outstanding: 

 

19. Equity - reserves 
Other capital reserves 

The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payment 

transactions provided to employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration.  

Refer to Note 17 for further details of these plans. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign 

controlled subsidiaries. 

20. Related party disclosures 
The ultimate parent 

Tomizone Limited (ASX: TOM) is the Group’s ultimate parent company.  Tomizone Limited is a Public Company 

incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group 

 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period 

related to key management personnel. 

 

  

Numbe r of 

Options Expiry Da te

Listed Class B Options 6,349,934 30/09/2018

Unlisted Class B Options 3,356,154 30/09/2018

Incentive A Options 375,000 01/10/2018

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Short- term employee benefits 644,010 824,234

Post- employment benefits 27,610 33,265

Share- based payment 245,689 267,012

Tota l c ompe nsa tion pa id to ke y ma na ge me nt pe rsonne l 9 17 ,3 0 9 1,12 4 ,5 11
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Security Interests held by Key Management Personnel at 30 June: 

 

* Refer to Directors Report for details of changes to Key Management Personnel. 

 

Key Management Personnel related party participation in Convertible Notes at 30 June 2017: 

  

* Refer to Directors Report for details of changes to Key Management Personnel. 

Key Management Personnel related party participation in Convertible Notes at 30 June 2016: 

 

* Refer to Directors Report for details of changes to Key Management Personnel. 

Convertible notes issued to related parties are on the same terms as that of third party, with exception to 

notes issued to Phillip Joe which are non-convertible. 

Total interests in convertible notes listed above are a combination of direct and in-direct, via related party, 

participation.  Related parties are attributed where a Key Management Individual has control, family 

association, or is a KMP of the participating entity. 

2 0 17 2 0 16

Issue  da te

Numbe r 

outsta nding

Numbe r 

outsta nding

Tarun Kanji * 2,439,895 2,269,581

Avikashan Naidu * 2,080,260 1,170,970

Eric King Wai Chan * 5,006,813 1,225,322

Phillip Joe 3,236,555 15,514,279

Geoffrey Wanless * 4,733,752 150,000

Saurabh Madan 1,426,369 -

Stephen Simms * - 14,044,149

Andrew Somervell * - 2,083,768

Sally Wu * - 50,000

Tota l 18 ,9 2 3 ,6 4 4 3 6 ,5 0 8 ,0 6 9

Numbe r of 

Note s
$

Tarun Kanji * 317,893 47,684

Avikashan Naidu * 283,000 42,500

Eric King Wai Chan * 6,750,000 1,012,500

Phillip Joe 1,500,000 225,000

Geoffrey Wanless * 666,667 100,000

Tota l 9 ,5 17 ,5 6 0 1,4 2 7 ,6 8 4

Numbe r of 

Note s
$

Tarun Kanji * 317,893 47,684

Avikashan Naidu * 283,000 42,500

Eric King Wai Chan * 6,750,000 1,012,500

Phillip Joe 1,500,000 225,000

Geoffrey Wanless * 666,667 100,000

Stephen Simms * 1,500,000 225,000

Tota l 11,0 17 ,5 6 0 1,6 5 2 ,6 8 4
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21. Commitments and contingencies 
Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee 

The Group has entered into a commercial lease on office property.  Rentals paid under operating leases are 

charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows: 

 

Finance lease commitments 

The Group has finance lease agreements for various items of plan and equipment.  The Group’s obligations 

under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the lease assets.  Future minimum lease payments 

under finance lease together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments are as follows: 

 

Contingent assets and liabilities 

The Group has no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2017. 

  

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Within one year 7,740 57,911

After one year but not more than five years - -

7 ,7 4 0 5 7 ,9 11

2017 20 16

Minimum 

pa yments

Present va lue  

of payments

Mimimum 

payme nts

Pre sent va lue  

of payme nts

$ $ $ $

Within one year - - 129,171 116,370

After one year but not more than five years - -

Tota l minimum lea se  pa yments - - 129 ,171 116 ,37 0

Less amounts representing finance charges - - (12,801) -

Pre sent va lue  of minimum le ase  payme nts - - 116 ,37 0 116 ,37 0
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22. Events after the reporting period 
Changes to the Board of Directors 

On 4 July 2017, the Company announced that it had accepted the resignation of Mr Tarun Kanji as non-

executive Director and Chairman.  Concurrently the Company announced the appointment of Mr Ian Bailey 

and Mr Matt Adams, both as non-executive Directors.  Mr Bailey also took the role of Chairman of the 

Company with immediate effect. 

On 1 September 2017, the Company announced that it had accepted the resignation of Mr Eric Chan and Mr 

Avi Naidu, both non-executive Directors.  Concurrently the Company announced the appointment of Mr 

Maxim Carling as non-executive Director. 

Extension of Convertible Notes 

On 4 July 2017, the Company announced that it had entered into agreements with Subscription Bond holders 

to: 

- extend the term of 75% (or $3,150,000) of outstanding Subscription Bonds to 14 August 2019; and 

- redeem 20% (or $840,000) of all outstanding Subscription Bonds on the condition that half of the 

redemption amount ($420,000) forms part of the underwriting of the Entitlement Offer (details 

below). 

Additionally, the Company will seek shareholder approval to: 

- issue 28,000,000 new options over TOM shares to Subscription Bondholders with an exercise price of 

$0.10 per option; and 

- adjust the conversion price of the remaining Subscription Bonds from $0.15 to $0.05 per TOM share. 

The repayment of $420,000 and conversion of $420,000 was completed in August 2017 reducing the 

remaining total Subscription Bonds outstanding amount to $3,360,000.  $1,050,000 is repayable June 2018, 

$2,310,000 is repayable August 2019. 

Capital Raise – Placement 

On 4 July 2017, the Company issued 13,333,332 new fully paid shares in the Company to sophisticated and 

professional investors at an issue price of $0.015 per new share to raise $0.20 million, before costs and 

expenses.  Funds raised from the Placement will be used by the Company to fund its working capital 

requirements and the redemption of the Subscription Bonds. 

Additionally, further to the announcement made on 10 January 2017, the Company completed the second 

tranche of the Previous Placement, and issued 444,444 new fully paid shares in the Company to sophisticated 

and professional investors at an issue price of $0.09 to raise $40,000, before costs and expenses. 

Capital Raise – Entitlement Offer 

On 4 July 2017, the Company announced it was undertaking a 1-for-1 non-renounceable pro-rata Entitlement 

Offer to raise up to a further $1.84 million at an issue price of $0.015 per share.  The Entitlement Offer was 

partially underwritten by a group of underwriters for up to $1.72 million. 

The proceeds of the Entitlement Offer will be used as follows: 

- $840,000 will be used to redeem and pay out part of the Subscription Bonds, of which $420,000 will 

be reinvested into the Company by the Subscription Bondholders via the underwriting of the 

Entitlement Offer; and 

- the remaining balance will be used to fund the ongoing working capital and expansion of the 

business. 

The Entitlement Offer and Underwriting Agreement was completed in August 2017.  On 6 September 2017, 

the Company issued 1.3m ordinary shares as partial settlement of the underwriting fee as outlined in the 

Entitlement Offer. 
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Restructuring 

On 13 July 2017, the Company announced the departure of the Chief Executive Officer Geoff Wanless, due to 

the changing nature and restructuring of the business over the past year. 

Social Light Acquisition 

On 14 August 2017, the Company announced that upon final review of the Social Light business that both 

parties had mutually and amicably agreed not to proceed with the transaction. 

The Companies have agreed to terminate the current sale and purchase agreement and look to replace it with 

a technology purchase and IP transfer agreement, which will see Tomizone own the software, source code 

and intellectual property of the software required by Tomizone for its customers.  Social Light will continue as 

Tomizone's development partner for the maintenance and ongoing development of its software. 

Benefits of the strategy for Tomizone's shareholders are: 

- less dilutive given Tomizone no longer has to issue the Social Light vendors 24,500,300 ordinary 

shares; 

- retained access to Social Light's technology products and capabilities through agreed procurement 

terms; 

- a resulting estimated quarterly overhead saving of $100,000; 

- less time commitment managing a business with operations in the Philippines. 

As at the date of this report the Company is continuing to finalise the conditions of termination and agreed 

on-going supplier relationship. 

Agreement to Acquire Bluesky Online Services 

On 8 September 2017, the Company announced they had signed an agreement to acquire all the business 

and assets of New Zealand base Managed Services company Bluesky Online Services Limited for a 

combination of cash and shares, made up of $142,500 in cash and 6.67 million Tomizone (ASX: TOM) shares. 

Agreement to Acquire Ironman Group Ltd 

On 27 September 2017, the Company announced they had signed an agreement to acquire the issued capital 

of Ironman Group Limited, a New Zealand based Technology Managed Services, Security and Leasing 

company with in excess of 4,000 customers.  The total purchase price for all of the shares in Ironman 

comprises the following: 

- An initial payment of 9.2 million Tomizone shares issued at a share price of AUD $0.015 (9.2 million 

shares), and 

- An earn-out of up to NZD $600,000, after meeting an agreed profit target over the next five years.  

This target equates to the full repayment of all debt the Tomizone group will assume upon completion 

of the transaction, estimated to be approximately NZD $3.8 million.  At the Company’s option, the 

earn-out may be paid via the issue of Tomizone shares, capped at 36,800,000 shares in total, or in 

cash. 

Other than the above matters there are no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since 30 June 

2017 that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 

– the consolidated entity’s operations in the future financial years, or 

– the results of those operations in future financial years, or 

– the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in the future financial affairs. 



Tomizone Limited Annual Report 2017 � 

 

23. Auditor’s remuneration 

  

24. Information relating to the Tomizone Limited (the 

parent) 

 

  

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Amounts re c e ive d or due  a nd re c e iva ble  by a uditors for:

An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the 

consolidated group -  Ernst & Young
- 128,322

An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the 

consolidated group -  Crowe Horwath 80,000 48,000

Tota l 8 0 ,0 0 0 17 6 ,3 2 2

Amounts re c e ive d or due  a nd re c e iva ble  for othe r se rvic e s for:

Taxation compliance -  Crowe Horwath 10,000 -

Tota l 10 ,0 0 0 -

2 0 17 2 0 16

$ $

Current assets 268,962 1,564,576

Total assets 468,962 1,764,576

Current liabilities 4,434,479 516,436

Total liabilities 4,434,479 4,352,021

Issued capital 55,632,885 54,251,469

Retained earnings (60,620,186) (57,737,351)

Other capital reserves 1,021,783 898,437

(3 ,9 6 5 ,5 17 ) (2 ,5 8 7 ,4 4 5 )

Profit or loss of the Parent entity (1,586,429) (1,360,327)

Total comprehensive income of the Parent  entity (1,586,429) (1,360,327)



In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Tomizone Limited,  
I state that:

1. In the opinion of the directors: 

 a.	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	notes	of	Tomizone	Limited	for	the		 	
	 	 financial	year	ended	30	June	2017	are	in	accordance	with	the	Corporations	Act		 	
	 	 2001,	including: 

  i.	 giving	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	consolidated	entity’s	financial	position	as		
	 	 	 at	30	June	2017		and	of	its	performance	for	the	year	ended	on	that	date;		 	
   and
  ii.	 complying	with	Accounting	Standards	and	the	Corporations	Regulations		 	
	 	 	 2001;
 
 b.	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	notes	also	comply	with	International		 	
	 	 Financial	Reporting	Standards	as	disclosed	in	Note	2.2;	and

 c.	 there	are	reasonable	grounds	to	believe	that	the	Company	will	be	able	to	pay	its		 	
	 	 debts	as	and	when	they	become	due	and	payable.

2.		 This	declaration	has	been	made	after	receiving	the	declarations	required	to	be	made	to		 	
	 the	directors	by	the	Chairman	and	Chairman	of	the	Audit	and	Finance	Committee		 	
	 in	accordance	with	section	295A	of	the	Corporations	Act	2001	for	the	financial	year		 	
	 ended	30	June	2017.

On behalf of the board

Ian Bailey     Matt Adams
Chairman	 	 	 	 	 Non	Executive	Director

29	September	2017

Directors’ Declaration
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Independent Auditor’s Declaration

 

 

Crowe Horwath Sydney is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees.  

Crowe Horwath Sydney 
ABN 97 895 683 573 
Member Crowe Horwath International 

Audit and Assurance Services 

Level 15 1 O'Connell Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia 

Tel +61 2 9262 2155  
Fax +61 2 9262 2190 
www.crowehorwath.com.au 

29 September 2017 
 
The Board of Directors 
Tomizone Limited 
Level 1-110 Wairau Valley Road 
Wairau Valley 
New Zealand 
 

 

Dear Board Members 

Tomizone Limited 
 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the Directors of Tomizone Limited. 
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Tomizone Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2017, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, that there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
CROWE HORWATH SYDNEY 
 

 
 
 

LEAH RUSSELL 
Senior Partner 
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Crowe Horwath Sydney is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees.  

Crowe Horwath Sydney 
ABN 97 895 683 573 
Member Crowe Horwath International 

Audit and Assurance Services 

Level 15 1 O'Connell Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia 

Tel +61 2 9262 2155  
Fax +61 2 9262 2190 
www.crowehorwath.com.au 

 
 
 

Tomizone Limited 
Independent Auditor’s Review Report to the Members of Tomizone Limited 
 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Tomizone Limited (the Company and its subsidiaries (the 
Group)), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the 
directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:  
 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended,  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001, and, 
 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 
time of this auditor’s report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Material uncertainty related to going concern 

Without modifying our audit opinion, we draw attention to Note 3.2 in the financial report, which 
indicates that the consolidated entity incurred a net loss after tax of $4,230,427 during the year ended 
30 June 2017 and, as of that date, the consolidated entity’s current liabilities exceeded its current 
assets by $5,307,848. As stated in Note 3.2, these events or conditions, along with other matters as 
set forth in Note 3.2, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
consolidated entities ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the consolidated entity may 
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.  
 

Key Audit Matter How we addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Impairment assessment of intangibles 

The Group has significant intangible assets in 
the form of goodwill and capitalised 
development costs that are assessed at least 
annually for impairment by the directors.  
 
As outlined in note 12, the impairment 
assessment of Goodwill  involves significant 
judgement in respect of factors such as: 
 
 The determination of CGU’s, 
 Budgeted revenue and costs, 
 Discount rates, and 
 Long-term growth rate. 
 
We focused on this area as a key audit matter 
due to the high degree of estimation and 
judgement required by the directors to assess 
whether impairment is required for the specified 
intangible assets and the sensitivity of the 
impairment assessment to changing variables 
as outlined in note 12.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We challenged the directors’ assumptions that 
support its position on impairment as follows:  
 
 Assessed management’s determination of the 

CGU’s based on our understanding of the 
nature of the Group’s business units and by 
comparing to the Group’s internal reporting 
systems, in particular in relation to how 
earnings are monitored and reported,  

 Obtained the Group’s value in use models and 
agreed amounts to the most recent budget 
approved by the Board and compared for 
consistency against the Group’s future 
business plan,  

 Assessed the accuracy of the previous Group 
forecasting to inform our evaluation of the 
forecast amounts included in the value in use 
model, 

 Reviewed the key assumptions in the value in 
use model and challenged the source and 
determination of the values assigned to long 
term revenue growth and the discount rates, 
and 

 Assessed the Group’s disclosures of the 
quantitative and qualitative considerations in 
relation to the valuation of goodwill, by 
comparing these disclosures to our 
understanding of the matter. 
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Key Audit Matter How we addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Impairment assessment of intangibles 

As outlined in note 12, the impairment 
assessment of Capitalised Development Costs  
involves significant judgement in respect of 
factors such as: 
 
 Amortisation over the expected term that 

revenue is generated from those capitalised 
costs. 

 
We focused on this area as a key audit matter 
due to the high degree of estimation and 
judgement required by the directors to assess 
whether impairment is required for the specified 
intangible assets as outlined in note 12.  
 

We challenged the directors’ assumptions that 
support its position on impairment as follows:  
 
 Assessed management’s determination of the 

expected term that revenue is generated from 
those capitalised costs.  

 Assessed the Group’s disclosures of the 
quantitative and qualitative considerations in 
relation to the valuation of capitalised software 
development, by comparing these disclosures 
to our understanding of the matter. 

 

 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not 
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, IFRS and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar2.pdf .This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.  
 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report  

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 14 to 22 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2017.  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Tomizone Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2017, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 

Responsibilities  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
 
 
 
CROWE HORWATH SYDNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
LEAH RUSSELL 
Senior Partner 
 
Dated at Sydney this 29th day of September 2017 
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ASX Additional Information 

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this 

report is as follows.  The information is current as at 25 September 2017. 

 

(a) Substantial holders 

 
 

(b) Distribution of equity securities 

Ordinary share capital 

– 246,717,015 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 799 shareholders. 

All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the rights to dividends. 

Performance shares 

– 31,352,492 performance shares are held by 28 shareholders.  The performance revenue targets were not 

achieved by the Company and therefore the performance shares will not be issued.  They will be formally 

cancelled in the 2018 financial year. 

Options 

The company has the following classes of options on issue: 

– 6,349,934 listed options exercisable at $0.40 and expiring on 30 September 2018 are held by 251 holders 

– 3,356,154 unlisted options exercisable at $0.40 and expiring on 30 September 2018 are held by 28 holders 

– 3,582,072 unlisted director options exercisable at $0.22 and expiring on various dates specified in Schedule 8 

of the Company’s notice of meeting dated 25 March 2015 are held by the following 3 holders 

 

 
 

– 2,821,197 unlisted adviser options exercisable at $0.22, with 1/2 vesting on 28 May 2017 and 1/2 vesting on 

28 May 2018 (options expire 12 months from their respective vesting) are held by the following 3 holders 

 

 

  

Fully Pa id

Substa ntia l holde rs Ordina ry Sha re s %

Hippo Trustee Limited 45,723,015 18.53%

Copper Limited 33,333,333 13.51%

Dulyne Pty Ltd -  <THE ATLANTIS SUPER FUND A/C> 17,166,517 6.96%

9 6 ,2 2 2 ,8 6 5 3 9 .0 0 %

Holde rs Numbe r

Mr Tarun Parbhu Kanji 1,194,024

Mr Avikashan Naidu 1,194,024

Mr Eric King Wai Chan 1,194,024

Holde rs Numbe r

Jonathan Hannam 940,399

Simon Pearce 940,399

Shadi Mahassel 940,399
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– 375,000 unlisted Class A incentive options are held by the following 2 holders 

 

 
 

– 375,000 unlisted Class B incentive options are held by the following 2 holders 

 

 
 

– 375,000 unlisted Class C incentive options are held by the following 2 holders 

 

 

Options do not carry a right to vote. 

(c) Distribution schedule 

The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class are: 

 

(d) Unmarketable parcels 

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of the Company’s main class of securities 

(being fully paid ordinary shares) is 476. 

  

Holde rs Numbe r

Mr Avikashan Naidu 125,000

Mr Eric King Wai Chan 250,000

Holde rs Numbe r

Mr Avikashan Naidu 125,000

Mr Eric King Wai Chan 250,000

Holde rs Numbe r

Mr Avikashan Naidu 125,000

Mr Eric King Wai Chan 250,000

Pe rforma nc e

Sha re s Options

1 -  1,000 273 - 1

1,001 -  5,000 86 - 106

5,001 -  10,000 62 - 55

10,001 -  100,000 220 1 97

100,001 and over 158 27 27

7 9 9 2 8 2 8 6

Fully P a id

Ordina ry S ha re s
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(e) Twenty largest holders of quoted fully paid ordinary shares 

 

 

  

Fully Pa id

Ordina ry sha re holde rs Ordina ry Sha re s %

HIPPO TRUSTEE LIMITED 45,723,015 18.53%

COPPER LIMITED 33,333,333 13.51%

DULYNE PTY LTD 17,166,517 6.96%

KINGFISHER CORPORATE TRUSTEE LIMITED 11,597,796 4.70%

ONE MANAGED INVESTMENT FUNDS LIMITED 10,179,656 4.13%

MR DAVID ARTHUR PAGANIN 8,009,614 3.25%

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 7,058,463 2.86%

MR ROGER STEINEPREIS & MRS JACQUELINE STEINEPREIS 6,700,000 2.72%

RODRIGO B LIBUNAO JR 5,850,000 2.37%

MR YUNPENG ZHANG 4,687,500 1.90%

JANUARIUS HOLDINGS INC 4,333,333 1.76%

ONE MANAGED INVESTMENT FUNDS LTD 3,796,875 1.54%

MR ROGER CHARLES HURST 3,384,108 1.37%

JANUARIO JESUS B ATENCIO 2,888,889 1.17%

MINONE PTY LTD 2,843,192 1.15%

JOUET LIMITED 2,618,555 1.06%

VENUE WIFI LIMITED 2,499,555 1.01%

MR ANDREW SOMERVELL & MS CHRISTINE GILL 2,083,768 0.84%

RANCHLAND HOLDINGS PTY LTD 2,078,846 0.84%

WANLESS SUPER FUND PTY LTD 2,030,893 0.82%

17 8 ,8 6 3 ,9 0 8 7 2 .5 0 %
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Corporate 

Information 
 

ABN 99 000 094 995 

 

Directors 

IAN BAILEY, Non Executive Independent Director 

and Chairman 

MATT ADAMS, Non Executive Director 

MAXIM CARLING, Non Executive Director 

PHILLIP JOE, Executive Director and Chief 

Commercial Officer 

Company Secretary 

ERYN KESTEL, Company Secretary 

Registered Office 

Level 27, 101 Collins Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 

Australia 

Phone: +61 3 9653 9328 

Principal place of business 

Level 1 – 110 Wairau Valley Road 

Wairau Valley 

New Zealand 

Share register 

Link Market Services 

Level 12, 680 George Street 

Sydney NSW 2000 

Australia 

Phone: +61 1300 554 474 

 

Tomizone Limited shares are listed on the 

Australian Securities Exchange (ASX: TOM) 

 

Solicitors 

Heimsath Alexander 

147 Quay Street 

Auckland 1010 

New Zealand 

Gilbert & Tobin 

Level 16, Brookfield Place Tower 2 

123 St Georges Terrace 

Perth WA 6000 

Australia 

Bankers 

ASB Bank Limited 

12 Jellicoe Street 

North Wharf 

Auckland 1010 

New Zealand 

Commonwealth Bank Limited 

83 Market Street 

Sydney NSW 2000 

Australia 

Auditors 

Crowe Horwath 

1 O’Connell Street 

Sydney NSW 2000 

Australia 
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